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· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·                          -oOo-·1·

· ··   RENO, NEVADA; TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2017; 1:27 P.M.·2·

· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·                          -oOo-·3·

··4·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··This is CV15-02349, the·5·

·consolidated case of Fitzsimmons vs. MDB Trucking.·6·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Wieczorek is here on behalf of Koski and·7·

·MDB Trucking.·8·

· · · · · ·          Good afternoon.·9·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Good afternoon, Your Honor.10·

·Thank you.11·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Wieczorek; right?12·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Absolutely right.13·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Mr. Aicklen and Mr. Bick are here14·

·on behalf of Versa.15·

· · · · · ·          Good afternoon to you both as well, gentlemen.16·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Good afternoon, Judge.17·

· · · · · ·          MR. BICK:··Good afternoon, Your Honor.18·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··And seated out there in the19·

·audience like a Cheshire cat with a big grin on his face20·

·is Mr. Addison, who is here on behalf of RMC Lamar, I21·

·think it is.22·

· · · · · ·          MR. ADDISON:··That's correct, Your Honor.23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··You're settled so you are no longer24·

AA001441



4

·part of the proceedings.··Mr. Addison had joined in a·1·

·number of the motions that had been filed on behalf of·2·

·Versa Enterprise, but I guess you're not necessary·3·

·anymore in these proceedings.·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. ADDISON:··That's correct, Your Honor.·5·

·Therefore, I'd request the Court's permission to be·6·

·excused.·7·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Any objection from either counsel?·8·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··No, Your Honor.·9·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No objection.10·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Thank you for being here,11·

·Mr. Addison.··Have a great day.12·

· · · · · ·          THE WITNESS:··Thank you, Judge.13·

· · · · · ·          Good luck, gentlemen.14·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··We are here for three -- strike15·

·that -- four separate motions.··As a preliminary matter,16·

·we started about ten minutes late today.··I want to17·

·apologize to all three of you gentlemen.··Your time is18·

·just as valuable as mine, and so I try and start on time19·

·all the time, but I was actually looking at some case law20·

·regarding your motion practice, so I wasn't using your21·

·time on somebody else's case, I was using it on yours,22·

·but we did start late, and I apologize to all three of23·

·you for that.24·
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· · · · · ·          We are here today to resolve four outstanding·1·

·motions, and we will resolve them in the following order:·2·

·The first motion that we will consider is the June 23,·3·

·2017, file-stamped MDB Trucking, LLC's Motion for Leave·4·

·to Amend Cross-Claim Against Cross-Claimant RMC Lamar·5·

·Holdings and Versa Products Company To Add Additional·6·

·Cross-Defendant Peter Paul Electronics Company,·7·

·Incorporated.··The Court has received and reviewed that·8·

·document.·9·

· · · · · ·          Further, as I go through the motion practice,10·

·the Court would note that I personally have read each of11·

·the documents in question, I have reviewed each and every12·

·exhibit that is appended to any document, and so if at13·

·any time you feel the need to refer to an exhibit, please14·

·feel free to do.··I always print out the documents15·

·themselves because I find it easier to read that way, but16·

·I don't print out exhibits, so if you ever want to talk17·

·about exhibits that you've attached, please just give me18·

·a second and I'll pull it up on my computer.19·

· · · · · ·          Can you stop doing that?20·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, thank you.21·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No, no.··Stop.··I just said stop22·

·doing that.··You're clicking your pen.··It's one of those23·

·odd OCD --24·
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· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, I'm going to swap·1·

·this pen out because it's a fatal habit of mine.··I·2·

·apologize to the Court.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··That's okay.··It's one of those·4·

·things that drives me crazy, so I apologize to you.·5·

· · · · · ·          The Court has also received and reviewed the·6·

·July 13, 2017, file-stamped Defendant/Cross-Claimant/·7·

·Cross-Defendant Versa Products Company, Incorporated's·8·

·Opposition to Defendant/Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant·9·

·MDB Trucking, LLC's Motion to Amend Cross-Claim To Add10·

·Additional Party, Peter Paul Electronics Company,11·

·Incorporated.12·

· · · · · ·          I'll skip over Mr. Addison's joinder and note13·

·that I have also received and reviewed the July 24, 2017,14·

·file-stamped MDB Trucking LLC's Reply in Support of15·

·Motion for Leave to Amend Cross-Claim to Add Additional16·

·Cross-Defendant Peter Paul Electronics Company,17·

·Incorporated.··The Motion for Leave to Amend was18·

·submitted for the Court's consideration on July 25th of19·

·2017.20·

· · · · · ·          Just so you can anticipate where we're going to21·

·go from there, after we resolve that issue, the next22·

·thing we'll take up is the motion for the striking of the23·

·cross-claims or, in the alternative, for an adverse jury24·
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·instruction; from there we will address MDB Trucking's·1·

·motion to continue the trial; and then, finally, we will·2·

·address Versa's objection to the recommended order that·3·

·was entered by Discovery Commissioner Ayres regarding·4·

·some discovery issues that came up during the litigation.·5·

· · · · · ·          So we will start first, as I said, with the·6·

·motion to amend.··I'll let both of the parties know that·7·

·there is some recent and very significant case law·8·

·regarding the motion itself.··Neither of the parties have·9·

·addressed the most recent cases from the Nevada Supreme10·

·Court or I should say the most recent case from the11·

·Nevada Court of Appeals, but it's directly on point12·

·regarding motion for leave to amend a pleading after the13·

·expiration of a deadline established pursuant to Nevada14·

·Rule of Civil Procedure 16.15·

· · · · · ·          In this case the Court entered a Rule 16 Case16·

·Management Order.··That has been acknowledged by both of17·

·the parties.··The Case Management Order is file-stamped18·

·January 10th of 2017 and on page 4 of the Case Management19·

·Order, beginning at line 2, it says:20·

· · · · · ·          "Status of pleadings and parties.··No official21·

·parties may be joined unless a motion to amend or add22·

·parties has been duly filed by May 4th of 2017."23·

· · · · · ·          And as I stated a moment ago, the motion itself24·
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·to amend and add Peter Paul was filed approximately six·1·

·to seven weeks after that deadline, on June 23rd of 2017,·2·

·so there is a conflict there.·3·

· · · · · ·          Neither of the parties addressed nor did they·4·

·raise the case of Nutton vs. Sunset Station,·5·

·Incorporated, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 357 P.3d 966, a 2015·6·

·case from the Nevada Court of Appeals.··I'm not sure if·7·

·the parties are ready to argue Nutton or not or if you're·8·

·familiar with Nutton.··If you're not, let me give you a·9·

·little background of it.10·

· · · · · ·          Judge Tao wrote the opinion from the Nevada11·

·Court of Appeals.··One of the things I was looking at12·

·before I came on the bench was to see if the Nevada13·

·Supreme Court had addressed Nutton regarding the issues14·

·that we're discussing today, and the Nevada Supreme Court15·

·has taken no action regarding that.··So Nutton vs. Sunset16·

·Station, Incorporated is a case directly on point17·

·addressing the tension between Nevada Rule of Civil18·

·Procedure 15 and Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 1619·

·regarding motions to amend.20·

· · · · · ·          Ms. Clerk -- excuse me -- Ms. Reporter, I21·

·apologize because I'm going to read some of this for the22·

·parties' benefit.··Given the fact everyone is writing23·

·furiously, I'm not quite sure everyone is familiar with24·
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·the case or not.··Has anyone read Nutton?·1·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Unfortunately not, Your Honor.·2·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No, Your Honor.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Let me just give you the·4·

·background, and, Counsel, if you'd like some time to·5·

·think about it, you can, and I know listening to somebody·6·

·read is one of the most unpleasant experiences in human·7·

·existence, but here's what Nutton says at page 968 of the·8·

·P.3d Reporter in the introduction, Justice Tao -- or·9·

·Judge Tao, I should say -- says:10·

· · · · · ·          "In this appeal we explore the relationship11·

·between Rule 15(a) and Rule 16(b) of the Nevada Rules of12·

·Civil Procedure, both of which govern the process for13·

·seeking leave to amend pleadings in a civil action.14·

·Under NRCP 15(a), a party should be granted leave to15·

·amend the pleading when 'justice so requires' and the16·

·proposed amendment is not futile.··However, when a party17·

·seeks to amend a pleading after the deadline previously18·

·set for seeking such amendment has expired, NRCP 16(b)19·

·requires a showing of 'good cause' for missing the20·

·deadline.··We further explore whether a proposed21·

·amendment under NRCP 15(a) can be considered to be futile22·

·because it is unsupported by, or contradicts, facts23·

·previously uncovered during discovery.24·
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· · · · · ·          "We conclude that when a motion seeking leave·1·

·to amend a pleading is filed after the expiration of the·2·

·deadline for filing such motions, the district court must·3·

·first determine whether 'good cause' exists for missing·4·

·the deadline under NRCP 16(b) before the court can·5·

·consider the merits of the motion under the standards of·6·

·NRCP 15(a)."·7·

· · · · · ·          That's just the introduction portion.·8·

· · · · · ·          Just so you know the background of the case, it·9·

·was a civil action brought before Judge Susan Johnson10·

·down in Las Vegas.··The initial issue was -- it was a11·

·bowling center, and somebody fell while he was bowling,12·

·and the argument was made by the person that he fell13·

·because the bowling alley was overly waxed or there was14·

·some substance on the ground, and then as I remember15·

·reading this case, to paraphrase, even his own expert16·

·said there was no issue with extra wax or some foreign17·

·substance on the ground.18·

· · · · · ·          So then the plaintiff moved to change his19·

·theory, after the time established to amend the pleadings20·

·had expired, to advance a new theory, and the new theory21·

·was that he didn't have his bowling shoes on and that the22·

·Sunset Station didn't require him to wear bowling shoes,23·

·and so it was a completely different theory.··It was a24·

AA001448



11

·negligence theory.·1·

· · · · · ·          At page 968 to 969 the Court says:·2·

· · · · · ·          "Subsequently, Nutton filed a motion with the·3·

·district court seeking leave to amend his complaint·4·

·pursuant to NRCP 15(a).··Conceding that his own expert·5·

·had agreed excessive lane oil did not cause his fall,·6·

·Nutton sought to amend his theory of liability to instead·7·

·plead that the fall was caused by his street shoes and·8·

·Sunset Station had negligently failed to ensure he wore·9·

·bowling shoes while he bowled."10·

· · · · · ·          That goes into page 969.11·

· · · · · ·          Now, these facts actually are very close to the12·

·facts that we have in the motion to amend in this case.13·

· · · · · ·          The Nevada Court of Appeals described the14·

·timing of the Nutton case on page 969 as follows:15·

· · · · · ·          "Nutton's motion was filed approximately three16·

·weeks after the expiration of the deadline to amend17·

·pleadings previously imposed by the district court.··At18·

·the time, the final discovery cutoff date was just over19·

·two months away, and trial was set to begin three months20·

·after the close of discovery.··Nutton's motion to amend21·

·was also filed after the expiration of the statute of22·

·limitations period for asserting a negligence claim."23·

· · · · · ·          And then there's some discussion about24·
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·Judge Johnson denying the motion because it was futile,·1·

·but Judge Johnson really just went to the NRCP 15·2·

·argument rather than first addressing the NRCP 16·3·

·argument.·4·

· · · · · ·          At page 970 the Court says the following:·5·

· · · · · ·          "NRCP 15(a) recites that when a party seeks·6·

·leave to amend a pleading after the initial responsive·7·

·pleadings have been served, 'leave shall be freely given·8·

·when justice so requires.'··The Nevada Supreme Court has·9·

·held that 'in the absence of any apparent or declared10·

·reason -- such as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory11·

·motive on the part of the movant -- the leave sought12·

·should be clearly given,'" citing Stephens,13·

·S-t-e-p-h-e-n-s, vs. Southern Nevada Music Company,14·

·89 Nev. 104 at pages 105 to 106, 507 P.2d 138, 139, a15·

·1973 case.16·

· · · · · ·          "Thus, NRCP 15(a) contemplates the liberal17·

·amendment of pleadings, which in colloquial terms means18·

·that most such motions ought to be granted unless a19·

·strong reason exists not to do so, such as prejudice to20·

·the opponent or lack of good faith by the moving party.21·

· · · · · ·          "The liberality reflected in NRCP 15(a)22·

·recognizes that discovery is a fluid process through23·

·which unexpected and surprising evidence is uncovered24·
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·with regularity," and then parenthetically it says,·1·

·"(particularly when important evidence was solely in the·2·

·possession of one party when the case was initiated)..."·3·

· · · · · ·          At page 970 the Court goes on state:·4·

· · · · · ·          "One rule that frequently overlaps with·5·

·NRCP 15(a) is NRCP 16(b).··NRCP 16(b) requires, among·6·

·other things, the district court to set deadlines in each·7·

·case for the various events, including deadlines for·8·

·conducting various types of discovery and for filing·9·

·various kinds of motions.··One deadline specifically10·

·contemplated by NRCP 16(b) is one by which motions11·

·seeking to amend the pleadings must be filed with the12·

·court.··Moreover, NRCP 16(b) recites that the deadlines13·

·imposed by the court under this rule 'shall not be14·

·modified' except 'upon a showing of good cause.'15·

· · · · · ·          "Thus, when a party seeks leave to amend a16·

·pleading pursuant to NRCP 15(a) after a deadline set17·

·under NRCP 16(b) for filing such a motion has already18·

·elapsed, such motions implicate NRCP 16(b) in addition to19·

·NRCP 15(a) because they effectively seek a waiver or20·

·extension of that deadline so that the merits of the21·

·motion may be considered.··If this were not so, and a22·

·motion seeking leave would be considered only under the23·

·standards of NRCP 15(a) no matter when it was filed, then24·

AA001451



14

·the deadlines required to be imposed under NRCP 16(b)·1·

·would become meaningless and could be blithely ignored."·2·

· · · · · ·          This has now gone on to page 971.·3·

· · · · · ·          "Functionally, NRCP 16(b) serves as something·4·

·of a counterweight to NRCP 15(a).··In contrast to the·5·

·fluidity reflected in NRCP 15(a), the purpose of NRCP·6·

·16(b) is 'to offer a measure of certainty in pretrial·7·

·proceedings, ensuring that at some point both the parties·8·

·and the pleadings will be fixed,'" citing Parker vs.·9·

·Columbia Pictures Industries, 204 F.3d 326 at pages10·

·339-40, a 2nd Circuit case from the year 2000.11·

· · · · · ·          The court goes on to state a few lines later:12·

· · · · · ·          "Disregard of the scheduling order would13·

·undermine the court's ability to control its docket,14·

·disrupt the agreed-upon course of the litigation, and15·

·reward the indolent and cavalier," citing Johnson vs.16·

·Mammoth Recreations, Incorporated, 975 F.2d 604 at17·

·page 610, a 9th Circuit case from 1992.18·

· · · · · ·          Most of these cases are federal cases, but as19·

·the Nevada Supreme Court repeatedly says, we can rely on20·

·federal cases because our Rules of Civil Procedure are21·

·patterned after the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.22·

· · · · · ·          So going on:23·

· · · · · ·          "NRCP 16 was drafted precisely to prevent this24·
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·from occurring, and 'its standards may not be·1·

·short-circuited by an appeal to those of Rule 15,'" and·2·

·that's cited back to the Johnson vs. Mammoth Recreations·3·

·case.·4·

· · · · · ·          Judge Tao goes on to note:·5·

· · · · · ·          "The Nevada Supreme Court has never defined·6·

·what constitutes 'good cause' under NRCP 16(b)," but·7·

·numerous federal courts actually have.·8·

· · · · · ·          Going on to page 971 and to page 972, Judge Tao·9·

·says:10·

· · · · · ·          "The distinction between NRCP 15(a) and NRCP11·

·16(b) is not merely a cosmetic one, because the12·

·definition of 'good cause' under Rule 16(b) is narrower13·

·than the considerably more lenient considerations14·

·governing amendment under Rule 15(a).··'A court's15·

·evaluation of good cause [under 16(b)] is not coextensive16·

·with an inquiry into the propriety of the amendment under17·

·Rule 15," citing back to the Johnson case.··"Unlike Rule18·

·15(a)'s liberal amendment policy which focuses on the bad19·

·faith of the party seeking to interpose an amendment and20·

·the prejudice to the opposing party, Rule 16(b)'s 'good21·

·cause' standard primarily considers the diligence of the22·

·party seeking the amendment," and citing back to Johnson.23·

· · · · · ·          Judge Tao goes on to say:24·
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· · · · · ·          "In determining whether 'good cause' exists·1·

·under Rule 16(b), the basic inquiry for the trial court·2·

·is whether the filing deadline cannot reasonably be met·3·

·despite the diligence of the party seeking the·4·

·amendment."··And I'll ignore the citations there.·5·

· · · · · ·          "Courts have identified four factors that may·6·

·aid in assessing whether a party exercised diligence in·7·

·attempting, but failing, to meet the deadline:··(1) the·8·

·explanation for the untimely conduct; (2) the importance·9·

·of the requested untimely action; (3) the potential10·

·prejudice in allowing the untimely conduct, and (4) the11·

·availability of a continuance to cure such prejudice."12·

·Those four factors are cited back to S&W Enterprises, LLC13·

·versus South Trust Bank of Alabama, NA, 315 F.3d 533 at14·

·page 536, a 5th Circuit case from 2003.15·

· · · · · ·          Judge Tao goes on to note:16·

· · · · · ·          "However, the four factors are nonexclusive and17·

·need not be considered in every case because, ultimately,18·

·if the moving party was not diligent in at least19·

·attempting to comply with the deadline, 'the inquiry20·

·should end,' citing back to Johnson 975 F.2d at 609.21·

·"Thus, of the four factors, the first (the movant's22·

·explanation for missing the deadline) is by far the most23·

·important and may in many cases be decisive by itself,"24·
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·citing back to Johnson.·1·

· · · · · ·          And then there's an internal quote that says --·2·

·or parenthetical quote that says, "('Although the·3·

·existence or degree of prejudice to the party opposing·4·

·the modification might supply additional reasons to deny·5·

·the motion, the focus of the inquiry is upon the moving·6·

·party's reasons for seeking modification.')"··Lack of·7·

·diligence has been found when a party was aware of the·8·

·information behind its amendment before the deadline, yet·9·

·failed to seek amendment before it expired."··And then10·

·the Court says, "See Perfect Pearl Company vs. Majestic11·

·Pearl & Stone, Incorporated," 889 F. Supp. 2d 453 at12·

·page 457, a Southern District of New York case from 2012,13·

·and then parenthetically a quote back to the Perfect14·

·Pearl case says, "('A party fails to show good cause when15·

·the proposed amendment rests on information that the16·

·party knew, or should have known, in advance of the17·

·deadline.')··In addition, 'carelessness is not compatible18·

·with a finding of diligence and offers no reason for a19·

·grant of relief,' citing back to Johnson, 975 F.2d at20·

·page 609.21·

· · · · · ·          The end of the reading is as follows, and this22·

·is now on page 972:23·

· · · · · ·          "Even where good cause has been shown under24·
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·NRCP 16(b), the district court must still independently·1·

·determine whether the amendment should be permitted under·2·

·NRCP 15(a)."·3·

· · · · · ·          And so what Judge Tao tells us is that you have·4·

·to go through those four factors first under the 16(b)·5·

·analysis and good cause under these circumstances.··You·6·

·can't just rely on all the Rule 15 arguments that are·7·

·made by the parties and opposed by the parties in their·8·

·moving papers because there's been the expiration of the·9·

·deadline that was set by the Court in the order of10·

·January 1st of 2017.··I apologize.··I believe it was11·

·January 10th of 2017.··That's right, January 10th.12·

· · · · · ·          So, Mr. Wieczorek, it is your motion, and as I13·

·said, there's nothing worse than sitting there listening14·

·to someone read, especially on something as intricate of15·

·the interplay of NRCP 16 and NRCP 15 when you haven't16·

·heard it before.··It makes me think back to my days in17·

·law school and my civ. pro. teacher, Dallas Isom.··He was18·

·not a compelling individual, and so he would just kind of19·

·read to you forever.··Mr. Isom read and read and read.20·

· · · · · ·          But I think you need to address the Nutton case21·

·first before we even get to thinking about whether or not22·

·an amendment to add Peter Paul Enterprises would be23·

·futile.··We have to get over the good cause hurdle first.24·
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·Why was there not only the delay from the notice that was·1·

·provided to you by Versa?··And Versa argues that the·2·

·notice was provided by sending the UL certificate in·3·

·January of -- is it January or March?·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··January of '17.·5·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··January 24th of 2017, I think it·6·

·was.·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··It was, yes, sir, January 24,·8·

·2017.·9·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··So they sent it to you January 24th10·

·of 2017.··And then your argument is that you didn't11·

·really find out about any of this until you were speaking12·

·to Mr. Mangiafico, which is not a wrestler.··That's13·

·actually a person.··Is that how you pronounce his name,14·

·Mr. MAG-NIF-IH-KOE?··I'm not trying to -- it's not a15·

·quiz.··As I was reading the exhibit --16·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, actually, I think17·

·it was a different individual.18·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Well, it was Mr. Nasme?19·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I believe it was Baharem Nasme.20·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Mr. Nasme said he was speaking to21·

·Mr. Mangiafico at Peter Paul Enterprises --22·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Correct.23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··And maybe it's not MAG-NIF-IH-KOE.24·
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·It's spelled M-a-n-g-i-a-f-i-c-o.··I guess that's not·1·

·pronounced MAG-NIF-IH-KOE, but it looked like·2·

·Mr. Magnifico to me when I read it.·3·

· · · · · ·          So go ahead now that I've yammered on for a·4·

·while about your case.·5·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··So first, with Nutton, I·6·

·appreciate your Court's summary of the case.··I think we·7·

·can deal with it, and I'd like to address it by pointing·8·

·out some things which our motion does not attempt to do·9·

·here.10·

· · · · · ·          So in Nutton, one of the concerns was that a11·

·new theory of liability was being proffered.··Here it is12·

·not a new theory of liability at all; it is the13·

·identification of a new potential tortfeasor responsible14·

·for the same product failure.15·

· · · · · ·          This is an effort to bring in another party for16·

·contribution purposes, so I don't think any amendment17·

·would be futile because the right accrues at some point18·

·later on, and I don't believe there is a statutory issue.19·

· · · · · ·          With regard to the most important part of the20·

·case that you recited, the concern of the Court for21·

·parties blithely ignoring the dictates of the scheduling22·

·order, certainly that is not the case here.··The concern23·

·of this case now is not so much that there are injured24·
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·plaintiffs seeking recovery for damages because those·1·

·individuals have all been settled and are no longer in·2·

·the equation of the case.··This is a business dispute·3·

·primarily now between companies, and the good cause·4·

·issue -- good cause focus that I think Nutton is·5·

·confronting is looking to reconcile competing interests.·6·

· · · · · ·          So, for example, the overt explanation I have·7·

·for you as to why the motion was not filed prior to·8·

·May 4, 2017, is because the deposition of Mr. Nasme did·9·

·not take place until May 9th of 2017.10·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Let's just accept that is the11·

·accepted chronology.··So why wasn't a motion filed on12·

·May 10th?··Why was there a delay from May 9th when you13·

·were made aware of it to June 23rd when the motion was14·

·actually filed?15·

· · · · · ·          I acknowledge that the Court's Case Management16·

·Order says May 4th, and so May 9th is five days after you17·

·find out, but it would at least be somewhat more18·

·persuasive to me if the motion to amend is filed19·

·immediately upon learning of Mr. -- excuse me -- learning20·

·of the potential contribution from Peter Paul21·

·Enterprises, but you waited six weeks to file.22·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Certainly.··And I can be23·

·faulted for a strategic decision, but upon learning of24·
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·Peter Paul's status as the component part supplier of the·1·

·solenoid which is the critical issue in this case, our·2·

·office chose to try to obtain documents or records from·3·

·Peter Paul to validate or at least provide some·4·

·additional information on that front because we were·5·

·still dealing with a discovery issue with Versa inasmuch·6·

·as it had neglected to produce certain documents or·7·

·produce documents with heavy redactions, which is the·8·

·subject of a second motion.·9·

· · · · · ·          We chose to try to get records from Peter Paul10·

·through subpoena duces tecum.··Upon the response date,11·

·Peter Paul filed an objection to produce nothing,12·

·whereupon we filed the motion based on the information we13·

·had.··We are still in a discovery dispute with Peter14·

·Paul, they still have not produced any evidence, and we15·

·still may be raising a discovery proceeding in that16·

·matter.17·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Are they in Connecticut?··Do I18·

·remember that correctly?19·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I believe that's true.··They20·

·have counsel, local counsel, and we've been in dialogue,21·

·but we have no agreements yet, and, again, we have not22·

·received anything from Peter Paul.23·

· · · · · ·          So the five-week delay, I appreciate, takes it24·

AA001460



23

·further outside of that CMO cutoff case, case management·1·

·cutoff date, but we were trying to endeavor to get good·2·

·information to support a motion to bring Peter Paul into·3·

·the case.·4·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Was there discussion between Versa·5·

·and MDB -- I should say between MDB and Versa --·6·

·immediately upon hearing this, that we're going to have·7·

·to bring in Peter Paul Enterprises?··So put another way,·8·

·Mr. Wieczorek, once you find out during Mr. Nasme's·9·

·deposition that Peter Paul is out there --10·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Right.11·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··-- immediately is there a12·

·conversation with MDB along the lines of "Hey, we're13·

·going to have to move to amend them or, alternatively, we14·

·start doing some investigation," and they don't even know15·

·about the potential of having Peter Paul Enterprises16·

·added as a cross-claimant until they get the motion on17·

·June 23, 2017?18·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I was not at Mr. Nasme's19·

·deposition so I don't know what conversation took place20·

·there.··I'm going to give you my educated opinion that21·

·probably that information was taken by the attorney from22·

·my office who was there that was then sent back to me,23·

·and then we made a decision that we needed to investigate24·
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·Peter Paul.··I personally did not pick up the phone and·1·

·call Versa's attorneys, primarily because we have·2·

·competing views of how the case should be litigated, and·3·

·in many respects I'm not sure whether me giving a·4·

·heads-up to Versa is the cutting issue here.·5·

· · · · · ·          The cutting issue here, though, is when MDB·6·

·should be charged with notice of Peter Paul's existence·7·

·in this case under the current scheduling.··And, again,·8·

·you've seen that January 7th list.··It provides·9·

·information.··Peter Paul's name is on it.··That list was10·

·examined by our experts and others and people in my11·

·office, and none of us apparently connected the dots12·

·earlier with respect to that information.··The deposition13·

·testimony of the witness certainly connected those dots.14·

·I think that --15·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Mr. Wieczorek, just so you know,16·

·I'm pulling up that list.··I think it's an exhibit to the17·

·opposition.18·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I think it's Exhibit 6.19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Is it Exhibit 5 or 6?··Let me20·

·check.21·

· · · · · ·          Now I've got it.··I apologize.··Go ahead.22·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··So if you're looking at it,23·

·perhaps that name jumps out at you upon looking at that24·
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·document.··It didn't for us, and I can take full·1·

·responsibility for that, for not having identified it.·2·

· · · · · ·          But, again, it was clear from Mr. Nasme's·3·

·deposition that not only was Peter Paul the component·4·

·supplier, but there had also been discussions between·5·

·representatives of Versa and Peter Paul about at least·6·

·potential for inadvertent activation of the valve due to·7·

·an electromagnetic force field, which is an issue in this·8·

·case.·9·

· · · · · ·          So I think we exercised diligence in trying to10·

·identify information about Peter Paul.··We've hit a brick11·

·wall with respect to compliance from Peter Paul.··We are12·

·still moving forward on that front, as evidenced by our13·

·related motion to continue the trial date.14·

· · · · · ·          Further, if you're looking at the --15·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Are you going to object?16·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No.17·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Are you just stretching your legs?18·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I'm just standing up.··My back19·

·hurts.20·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Okay.··Go ahead.21·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That's okay.22·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I thought you were about to object23·

·to something.24·

AA001463



26

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No.··I wouldn't interrupt, Your·1·

·Honor.··My back hurts.·2·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··If you want to stand up, feel free.·3·

·I've got a bad back, too.·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That's okay.··I'll just stretch·5·

·my legs.·6·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Stand if it makes you feel better.·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··So if we're looking at another·8·

·Nutton factor, the issue of prejudice to the opposing·9·

·party, I know at the outset, just intuitively, it would10·

·seem to make sense that a party defendant in a product11·

·defect liability case would not oppose the joinder of12·

·another potential co-defendant tortfeasor involved in the13·

·manufacture of that device.··That's an intuitive14·

·statement.15·

· · · · · ·          In this particular case, Versa is saying it's16·

·being prejudiced because, one, we waited too long.··I17·

·understand that argument.··Second, that it's going to18·

·nullify all the work that went into the case thus far.19·

· · · · · ·          I don't see that at all.··The experts have20·

·looked at this issue.··The experts have rendered their21·

·opinions.··To the extent Peter Paul has anything new or22·

·different to add to the equation based upon information23·

·from their experts, they can certainly supplement.··I24·
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·don't think it's going to vitiate anyone's position.·1·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··But it seems to me that that is the·2·

·standard position that attorneys take when they're·3·

·seeking to bring in new parties, that they're only·4·

·focused on the parties that are in the case now, and by·5·

·the way, I would note you kind of skipped from NRCP 16·6·

·now to NRCP 15, and I'm not sure we've gotten over the 16·7·

·hurdle yet.·8·

· · · · · ·          But when people start arguing about, well, you·9·

·know, it's not going to be any prejudice because, we, the10·

·people, the kids in the pool already, have done all our11·

·work, it denies the fact or it completely ignores the12·

·fact that if you were to bring in Peter Paul Enterprises13·

·into this case, you're starting all over again.··You're14·

·not just bringing in one additional person who has some15·

·small or negligible role in the process.··You're16·

·suggesting that they are potentially entirely responsible17·

·for everything.18·

· · · · · ·          I'm going to guess that Peter Paul Enterprises19·

·would want to have their own experts.··We would just be20·

·hitting the reset button on the entire case.··It's never21·

·as simple as, well, we'll just bring them in and pull an22·

·extra chair up to the table.··You're starting all over23·

·again with discovery issues, with brand new experts.24·
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·They will undoubtedly look at the expert opinions that·1·

·have been prepared in this case, and if any of them·2·

·suggest that the solenoid that they produced -- and by·3·

·"they" I mean Peter Paul Enterprises -- was somehow·4·

·responsible for the dumping of the gravel, I don't see·5·

·that -- I don't see it as a giant leap of logic to·6·

·believe they're going to have somebody that they want to·7·

·come in and file an opposing position, and then your·8·

·experts need to look at it all over again.·9·

· · · · · ·          So it's never just as simple as we here in the10·

·litigation now can easily accommodate it.··You're11·

·bringing in somebody who is theoretically entirely12·

·responsible based on one analysis.··It really in my mind13·

·just starts the whole thing all over again.14·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··And I fully understand that,15·

·Your Honor, and I agree Peter Paul would come into this16·

·case and say, "We need time to do this and that."17·

· · · · · ·          I can also tell you that during the life of18·

·this case, probably the first 18 months or more of this19·

·case was focused on plaintiffs, individuals.··Really, the20·

·product discovery didn't even commence until after21·

·mediation in May.··There was written discovery, but22·

·certainly not deposition discovery, certainly not expert23·

·discovery.24·
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· · · · · ·          So if Peter Paul comes in and says, "Well,·1·

·we're behind the curve," well, you're 90 days behind the·2·

·curve on what the parties have done to date.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··But that was a choice that you all·4·

·made, including the plaintiffs' attorneys and counsel for·5·

·all of the other parties, in how you would continue to·6·

·prepare for trial in this case.··That you chose to wait·7·

·toward the end to do your expert work or to do the·8·

·depositions or whatever else you needed to do, that was a·9·

·conscious choice that was made by the litigants10·

·currently.11·

· · · · · ·          I don't think when you bring in some brand new12·

·party, you can say, "Well, we're just as far behind as13·

·you are" or "We're just a couple weeks ahead of you."14·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I offer that not as an excuse,15·

·but as a fact that that's the way this case lined up.··I16·

·think it is clear, however, that, again, a slightly17·

·different fact pattern from Nutton.··There's no change in18·

·theory here.··There is no change in factual underpinnings19·

·of this case.··We all know what happened.20·

· · · · · ·          The question is, who is responsible for this21·

·inadvertent activation of this valve?··Versa certainly22·

·made it.··Versa certainly did not disclose, other than23·

·this one-sheet document, in the eight months of written24·
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·discovery, what it did produce, "Hey, look at Peter Paul.·1·

·They made the solenoid.··You know, chase them."·2·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··When you say they made it, they·3·

·didn't make it, "it" being the solenoid, the piece in·4·

·question.·5·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Peter Paul, yeah.·6·

· · · · · ·          So I'm just pointing out Versa did not front·7·

·the information that Peter Paul was a component part·8·

·supplier and they happened to make the solenoid.··That·9·

·was not part of the initial case disclosures, it's not10·

·part of the discovery disclosures.··It may still be part11·

·of documents that are still the subject of dispute of the12·

·discovery commissioner's order.··I don't know because we13·

·haven't seen them.14·

· · · · · ·          But the progress or the fact that the15·

·investigation was in fact delayed by those discovery16·

·issues, the irrefutable fact is it was May 9th when this17·

·information hit the case domain, if you will, and we took18·

·steps to do it.19·

· · · · · ·          So I understand, again, Nutton looking for20·

·rational cases for complying with cutoff dates and court21·

·orders, and I respect those completely.··This case -- you22·

·know, perhaps as all attorneys would say, this case is23·

·slightly different because of the way the facts24·
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·developed, the way the case has now procedurally set·1·

·itself up because it is no longer a plaintiff case, it is·2·

·a business dispute case.·3·

· · · · · ·          And, again, I go back to the issue, Versa is·4·

·not prejudiced because it's already committed its·5·

·position.··I would expect Peter Paul would probably back·6·

·it up because they are -- they are manufacturers of the·7·

·same product with different positions.·8·

· · · · · ·          Again, I think the equity of the situation, if·9·

·we can get past the compliance issue -- and I don't know10·

·if Your Honor is or not -- but if we get to the equity of11·

·the situation, it is far better to have those who are the12·

·responsible parties for creating an allegedly defective13·

·product before the trier of fact at one time than14·

·piecemealing it and letting potentially Versa play off15·

·Peter Paul at trial in this case, letting Peter Paul play16·

·off something else at some future point.17·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··That does raise an issue that I18·

·have thought about, and the issue is this:··Let's assume19·

·for the sake of argument that I deny the motion.··You20·

·can -- and by "you" I mean MDB -- can still file an21·

·entirely new action, assuming the statute of limitations22·

·hasn't expired, against Peter Paul Enterprises should you23·

·choose to do so.24·
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· · · · · ·          I can't tell you the number of contribution·1·

·cases that I have had where one of the causes of action·2·

·in a cross- or counterclaim is for contribution and the·3·

·argument is "Well, we haven't fixed the amount or that·4·

·there's an amount owed yet, and therefore the·5·

·contribution claim is too early."··The answer to that·6·

·always is "No.··We're just going to do one trial instead·7·

·of two."·8·

· · · · · ·          But, theoretically, you could be asking to do·9·

·just that, which is, if I deny your motion, we go forward10·

·with trial on October 30th of 2017, and then if at some11·

·point it is established by the jury that MDB is12·

·responsible in some way, then you can still file a cause13·

·of action possibly against Peter Paul Enterprises for14·

·contribution.15·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I agree.··And you're16·

·piecemealing litigation where we're all interested in17·

·judicial economy.··Certainly the economies of scale put18·

·it better to have one trial with one trier of fact and19·

·one set of facts and parties.20·

· · · · · ·          Again, I do not doubt Peter Paul, if they're21·

·joined in this case, will argue for an extension of22·

·existing deadlines for probably more than the four months23·

·I ask for.··I don't know.··It is a rather discrete issue24·
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·at this point.··We're not parsing medical records.··We're·1·

·parsing drawing diagrams and engineering technique and·2·

·the fact of an event, so we could --·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I'm going to jump over the NRCP 16·4·

·hurdle now, not that -- I'm not saying we have or haven't·5·

·cleared it, but I'm going to talk for a second,·6·

·Mr. Wieczorek, about NRCP 15 and the futility of bringing·7·

·in Peter Paul Enterprises.·8·

· · · · · ·          I don't know the answer to this question and·9·

·that's why I ask.··The parties have much more knowledge10·

·about the discovery process and what has been produced,11·

·but as I recall reading Mr. Nasme's excerpt testimony at12·

·his deposition, the argument is that somehow giant13·

·magnetic fields can cause this solenoid potentially to14·

·activate, and therefore the gravel would fall out of the15·

·bottom of the trailer and we have all of these accidents.16·

· · · · · ·          But then the follow-up question that was asked17·

·by Mr. Nasme to the person I keep calling18·

·Mr. Mangiafico was "Has that ever happened?"··And he19·

·said, "No."··"Is there any evidence of that ever20·

·happening anywhere?"··And, again -- I'm paraphrasing --21·

·but it's just "No."22·

· · · · · ·          And even assuming, let's say, for the sake of23·

·argument that it has happened, that you've gone -- that24·
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·somehow a truck has gone through this giant magnetic·1·

·field and that that did occur, that the solenoid did·2·

·activate, is there any evidence in the case whatsoever·3·

·anywhere that there was a giant magnetic field on·4·

·Interstate 80 as this truck was driving along that caused·5·

·that to happen?·6·

· · · · · ·          I mean, it's assuming so many steps.··It's·7·

·assuming that a magnetic field could cause that, and then·8·

·it's assuming that that magnetic field was, in fact,·9·

·present; therefore, it's reasonable or at least it's10·

·arguable or plausible that that might happen.11·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Right.··So --12·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··May I address that?13·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Yes.14·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··It's a factual question, and I15·

·took the deposition -- I've completed my expert16·

·discovery -- Josh Aicklen for the defense, Your Honor.··I17·

·took Erik Anderson's deposition.··He's the electrical18·

·engineer that MDB has retained on its -- for the products19·

·theory.20·

· · · · · ·          First we took Bausch, and Bausch is easy to21·

·deal with.··He found no defect, either electrical or22·

·mechanical, so he referred to Anderson.··I asked Anderson23·

·about this theory, the electromagnetic field theory, and24·
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·he said -- I asked him the Hallmark factors of it.·1·

· · · · · ·          I said, "Did you drive that route and find any·2·

·source of electromagnetic energy?"·3·

· · · · · ·          He said, "No."·4·

· · · · · ·          I said, "You show a lot of photographs" --·5·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No, he didn't drive it or none·6·

·existed?·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No, he didn't drive it.··He·8·

·didn't test his theory.·9·

· · · · · ·          I said, "I see a lot of photographs in your10·

·workbook of high power lines.··What's running through11·

·those high power lines?"12·

· · · · · ·          He says, "AC."13·

· · · · · ·          I said, "What is the solenoid activated by?"14·

· · · · · ·          "DC."15·

· · · · · ·          I said, "So is that your" --16·

· · · · · ·          "He said, "No, no, no.··That's not the source17·

·of the electromagnetic force."18·

· · · · · ·          I said, "How did you get the solenoid to19·

·trigger?"20·

· · · · · ·          He said, "I held a ferrous magnet next to it,21·

·right next to it, and it triggered."22·

· · · · · ·          And literally I said to him, "Assuming there23·

·wasn't a guy running down the highway at 65 miles per24·
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·hour with a ferrous magnet, what is your theory as to the·1·

·electromagnetic force which caused that related trigger?"·2·

· · · · · ·          He said, "I don't have one.··I don't know."·3·

· · · · · ·          So that is the evidence of this theory that the·4·

·solenoid was defective.·5·

· · · · · ·          Now, even more importantly than that, remember,·6·

·this is a solenoid on a truck.··The systems -- and I·7·

·asked Anderson this, and he had no idea of this.··Your·8·

·electric door locks are a solenoid.··Your starter motor·9·

·on your car is a solenoid.··Your gas release hatch is a10·

·solenoid.··Your trunk release hatch is a solenoid.11·

· · · · · ·          I asked Anderson, "Is there any evidence that12·

·any other solenoids other than the solenoid on13·

·Mr. Koski's second trailer dumped along this stretch of14·

·the road?"15·

· · · · · ·          He said, "No.··I've never heard of it."16·

· · · · · ·          And then to further that theory about the17·

·electromagnetic force, I asked him in deposition, "Did18·

·you reach out to any of your peers and run this by them19·

·to see what they thought?"20·

· · · · · ·          "No."21·

· · · · · ·          "Are you aware of any other expert ever giving22·

·this opinion?"23·

· · · · · ·          And he said, "No."24·
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· · · · · ·          I said, "Have you ever published on this·1·

·opinion?"·2·

· · · · · ·          "No."·3·

· · · · · ·          "Are you aware of any peer-reviewed articles·4·

·that state that electromagnetic fields can trigger --·5·

·randomly trigger solenoids in a roadway?"·6·

· · · · · ·          And he said, "No."·7·

· · · · · ·          So the bottom line of the question factually --·8·

·and we have the transcript.··I don't have it here because·9·

·it was done after the briefing.··The bottom line of the10·

·factual basis of this whole electromagnetic field theory11·

·is nothing.12·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I don't want to make -- I'm not13·

·making the argument for either party.··It may14·

·theoretically be possible.··My question is, is there any15·

·evidence in the case to support the theory that it16·

·happened here?17·

· · · · · ·          Do you understand what I'm saying,18·

·Mr. Wieczorek?··I'm not agreeing or disagreeing with the19·

·analysis that was just made.··I'm simply saying, okay,20·

·let's just, for the sake of argument, assume that that21·

·is -- that Peter Paul Enterprises somehow is responsible22·

·because of this magnetic field theory beyond what23·

·experimenting conducted, which is holding a magnet next24·
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·to itself, is there any evidence that any of that ever·1·

·occurred?·2·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Right.··So without having had·3·

·the benefit of engineering or other documents from Peter·4·

·Paul and Versa on this issue, it is a fact that at that·5·

·same location, less than an hour before this relevant·6·

·event, another truck dumped its load because it valve·7·

·inadvertently activated.··It is also a fact that other·8·

·trucking companies have experienced these inadvertent·9·

·activations that we are chasing the information on.10·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Like the Bermuda Triangle of truck11·

·dumps?12·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Well, every expert in this13·

·case, based on the pool of information they have to date,14·

·which doesn't include Peter Paul's stuff and doesn't15·

·include Versa's stuff, says it is a conundrum as to what16·

·happened here, but EMF is our best estimation.17·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Anderson did not have the benefit of Mr. --18·

·of the principal of Peter Paul who happened to tell the19·

·guy at Versa in his deposition, "It would require a20·

·tremendous amount of magnetic field if it could happen."21·

·He couldn't imagine how that could happen.22·

· · · · · ·          "Did you have a discussion with Mark about the23·

·size of the field that would be required?24·

AA001476



39

· · · · · ·          "We may have talked about it.··I don't know if·1·

·he had ideas.·2·

· · · · · ·          "The only thing you recall is he said large?·3·

· · · · · ·          "Right.··Large."·4·

· · · · · ·          That's what we know so far from this·5·

·deposition.·6·

· · · · · ·          There is information in this world based -- in·7·

·Peter Paul's records and Versa's files that we have not·8·

·seen yet which fill in information on this.··The problem·9·

·with this approach, with Versa opposing this motion now,10·

·is -- you know, pick your football analogy -- they're11·

·trying to run the clock out.··They're trying to scramble12·

·for time.13·

· · · · · ·          They have not produced full information yet,14·

·which is the subject of another motion today, yet they15·

·want this trial date to stand, yet they want status quo16·

·to be where it is.··And I don't think that's appropriate,17·

·and I think that is actually a run around the amendment18·

·discussion in Nutter --19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··You mean Nutton, N-u-t-t-o-n.20·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Nutton.··Pardon me.21·

· · · · · ·          -- because Nutton is putting the onus on the22·

·party seeking leave to amend to make their case.··Here23·

·part of that factor is the fact that the other parties24·
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·have not produced full documentation which may have·1·

·allowed for an earlier decision.··So that's my -- that's·2·

·the tension I recognize in this matter right now.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Okay.··Mr. Aicklen, just one·4·

·moment.·5·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Aicklen, maybe it was Exhibit 2 to your·6·

·opposition where the UL listing is made.··Is that·7·

·correct?·8·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I don't recall the exhibit·9·

·number, Your Honor.··I actually have them on a computer10·

·because I flew up and I couldn't carry the binder, but it11·

·was -- the date of production was January 24, 2017, you12·

·are correct.··And it does identify the UL certification13·

·and Peter Paul Industries as the manufacturer of the14·

·solenoid.15·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I just want to look at it one16·

·moment.17·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Sure.18·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Okay.··Go ahead and make your19·

·argument.20·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Thank you, sir.21·

· · · · · ·          Let's go back to NRCP 16 because the issue here22·

·is, is there good cause for the delay?··And you're right,23·

·I was not aware of the Nutton case.··However, the24·
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·analysis is -- essentially what you do under Rule 16, the·1·

·analysis of that is, do they show good cause for not·2·

·having done this before?·3·

· · · · · ·          Their theory of this case, this whole·4·

·electromagnetic theory, has been articulated long before·5·

·January.··They were focused on some electric theory, and·6·

·the interesting reason why that is, is because nobody who·7·

·has inspected this valve has ever found anything wrong·8·

·with it.·9·

· · · · · ·          So their expert, Erik Anderson, says, well,10·

·it's got to be some type of external force triggering it11·

·because it's been torn down and they've never found any12·

·type of electro or mechanical defect in it.13·

· · · · · ·          So in January of 2017, what they see as the14·

·problem with the Versa valve or the component of the15·

·Versa valve is identified as being manufactured by a16·

·different manufacturer, and they do no discovery on it.17·

·They didn't send any rogs to us.··I mean, why did they18·

·not send out a commission deposition subpoena in January19·

·to Maryland to get information if this was truly crucial20·

·to their theory.21·

· · · · · ·          The motion here for leave to amend to --22·

·actually, I think it would be a third-party complaint as23·

·opposed to a cross-claim -- it would be to amend their24·
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·answer and assert a third-party complaint -- is filed·1·

·July 25, 2017, I believe, by the Court's reckoning --·2·

·correct? -- on the filing date.·3·

· · · · · ·          So they did not take any steps to investigate·4·

·this potential defendant on their own stated theory until·5·

·six months post-expert initial disclosures.··That is not·6·

·good cause.··That is not due diligence.·7·

· · · · · ·          At a minimum, when this conversation went on·8·

·with Versa's 30(b)(6) witness where he says, "I spoke to·9·

·the chief engineer at Peter Paul, the one that provides10·

·us with the relay and the solenoid, and, you know, I11·

·asked him, 'Could the presence of a large magnetic field12·

·cause the solenoid to activate?'··And he said, 'No,'" I13·

·mean, isn't that at a minimum, at the moment where14·

·they're saying, "Okay, we have a potential target15·

·defendant here.··They're denying that that could be the16·

·cause.··That is the theory of the cause in our case,"17·

·shouldn't they at that moment have said, "We have this18·

·theory.··They deny it.··Even if it's anecdotally through19·

·a third party, we need to move to amend to get them into20·

·this case"?21·

· · · · · ·          Why are we doing this after all the experts22·

·have been designated and rebuttals, after I've taken the23·

·experts' depositions?··Two years they had to work up24·
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·their products liability case.··And as you said, the·1·

·parties wanted to try and mediate.··Well, we did, and we·2·

·settled -- they settled out with the plaintiffs, and we·3·

·got all that taken care of, but I'll tell you what:·4·

·During the course of that time, I did my due diligence; I·5·

·did my discovery; I've taken my experts' depos; I've got·6·

·the documents that I need to take the case to trial.·7·

· · · · · ·          So if he thinks -- if Mr. Wieczorek and his·8·

·client think they have a viable claim against this·9·

·potential third-party defendant, then let's go down on10·

·the 30th and let's try the case to a jury, and if the11·

·jury comes back and says, hey, it's not Versa valve, it's12·

·somebody else, then they can try that theory against13·

·them.14·

· · · · · ·          But what's going to happen if you grant this15·

·amendment this late with no good cause is this case is16·

·going to go on for another two years, and it's going to17·

·cost my client another $350,000 in fees and costs, and18·

·that is the actual -- they say there's no prejudice to19·

·us.··That is the prejudice to the parties.··I know that20·

·that's Rule 15 analysis, but that is a significant21·

·prejudice.22·

· · · · · ·          This has been extremely disruptive to my23·

·client's business.··There's been a number of depositions,24·
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·depositions -- you know, going back to where the client·1·

·is, there are general counsel involved, all those things.·2·

·They had the time; they didn't do it.··Time to put up or·3·

·shut up.··Let's go to trial.·4·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Thank you, Mr. Aicklen.·5·

· · · · · ·          Any reply to that, Mr. Wieczorek?·6·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Very briefly, Your Honor.·7·

· · · · · ·          Let's assume I was a smarter guy than I·8·

·apparently am and I immediately filed this motion,·9·

·immediately to join Peter Paul.··That didn't change any10·

·of the currently scheduling deadlines.··We would have11·

·still been taking expert depositions.··We would have12·

·still been issuing rebuttal reports.··We would have still13·

·been going across the country deposing people based on14·

·the information they had because the Court had not15·

·changed the order.16·

· · · · · ·          And Mr. Aicklen was very clear; he did not want17·

·to stipulate to change any of those dates.··So we18·

·complied to the letter with the existing order.··Whether19·

·I filed it four weeks earlier or not, I don't know when20·

·the Court would have gotten around to setting the hearing21·

·on this, but I don't think it would have changed in terms22·

·of his client being inconvenienced by these issues.23·

· · · · · ·          I think the fact here is that his client has24·
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·not assisted the investigation of these issues.··His·1·

·client has not disclosed the information to allow the·2·

·full flushing out of these issues.··His client is the·3·

·subject of a separate motion this afternoon regarding a·4·

·discovery order on producing documents, which may fill in·5·

·new facts, which may make me come back and say we do need·6·

·to continue the trial because Versa did not disclose·7·

·important information in a timely fashion.··I'm not -- I·8·

·don't know that, but I don't think it's appropriate to·9·

·say they dragged their feet, they could have done this10·

·motion three weeks earlier, the scheme of this case and11·

·the scheduling order, nothing would have been different.12·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Thank you, Mr. Wieczorek.13·

· · · · · ·          The Court has considered the motions and the14·

·exhibits.··Further, the Court has considered the oral15·

·arguments of Counsel, and importantly, the Court is16·

·considering the analysis as directed by Judge Tao in17·

·Nutton versus Sunset Station, Incorporated.18·

· · · · · ·          As I stated a couple of times, the threshold19·

·issue given the timing of the motion is whether or not20·

·good cause exists for the Court to disregard the Rule 1621·

·Case Management Order that was entered on January 10th of22·

·2017.··And to repeat the analysis that I should go23·

·through or the factors I should consider in deciding24·
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·whether or not good cause has been demonstrated, the·1·

·Nutton court says I should consider the explanation for·2·

·the untimely conduct, the importance of the requested·3·

·untimely action, the potential prejudice in allowing the·4·

·untimely conduct, and the availability of a continuance·5·

·to cure the prejudice.··And, further, the factors aren't·6·

·weighed equally.··The primary factor that the court·7·

·should consider is the first factor, the explanation for·8·

·the untimely conduct.··And as Judge Tao says, ultimately,·9·

·if there's not a good explanation regarding why the party10·

·was not diligent, in this case why MDB was not diligent,11·

·then the inquiry should, in fact, end.12·

· · · · · ·          The Court finds, under the first Nutton good13·

·cause factor, that the explanation for the untimely14·

·conduct proffered by MDB is unpersuasive.··The Court15·

·finds that the information was provided to MDB by Versa16·

·in January of 2017.17·

· · · · · ·          While it's true that there wasn't a highlight18·

·on it or maybe arrows pointing to something, it cannot be19·

·successfully argued to me that somehow the information20·

·was withheld.··It might not have been looked at or the21·

·import of the evidence might not have been immediately22·

·apparent to MDB in its analysis, but there's no disputing23·

·the fact that they were at least provided the information24·
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·that the solenoid was prepared or was manufactured by·1·

·someone else in January.··They simply didn't look at it·2·

·closely enough, and therefore the Court finds that the·3·

·explanation, that being "We didn't know about it until·4·

·May" -- one moment -- "until May 9th of 2017 during·5·

·Mr. Nasme's deposition" is unpersuasive.··They should·6·

·have known about it or certainly could have known about·7·

·it in January, some four months earlier.·8·

· · · · · ·          Further, the Court would note that MDB·9·

·Trucking, by its own admission, knew of the issue on10·

·May 9th of 2017, and as we've already noted, that's only11·

·five days after the deadline.··While I doubt that Versa12·

·would have simply consented to an amendment of the13·

·complaint or cross-complaint to add Peter Paul as a new14·

·cross-party, the fact that six months -- "six months," I15·

·apologize -- six weeks approximately went by before the16·

·motion was even made is certainly telling and does17·

·prejudice Versa and would prejudice Peter Paul as well.18·

· · · · · ·          Once they became aware on May 9th, at least if19·

·you had come forward right away and said to Versa, "We're20·

·thinking about filing a motion, we're going to do it21·

·tomorrow," then the parties at least would have been able22·

·to act appropriately, but instead weeks and weeks and23·

·weeks went by as we were rapidly approaching an24·
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·October 30th trial date, and nothing was done until the·1·

·end or until the motion was filed on June 23rd.·2·

· · · · · ·          And then we also have to take into·3·

·consideration District Court Rule 12 and Local Rule 13·4·

·and Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 6, all of which lay·5·

·out the time frame for a motion to be heard and·6·

·considered.·7·

· · · · · ·          MDB Trucking's motion wasn't filed on an·8·

·expedited basis when leave could have been sought to have·9·

·it heard immediately.··What happened was it was just10·

·filed in the normal course, and that normal course takes11·

·approximately three weeks to work itself out from the12·

·filing of the motion, and you don't count that day it's13·

·filed, but then you get ten days plus three days, not14·

·counting nonjudicial days.··So it's at least two weeks15·

·before an opposition has to be filed, and then after the16·

·opposition is filed, there's statutory rules, the amount17·

·of time that has to take place before the reply gets18·

·filed, then it gets submitted to the Court for19·

·consideration.··So it's additional weeks upon weeks for a20·

·motion to be brought to the Court's attention when leave21·

·is not sought for an expedited hearing, and that leave22·

·was not sought in this case.23·

· · · · · ·          So by the time I'm finally getting to the issue24·
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·after it has been submitted for my consideration -- it's·1·

·submitted for my consideration on July 25th of 2017 -- I·2·

·see it, it's brought to my attention quickly, I enter an·3·

·order on August 1st of 2017 to have the hearing, but now·4·

·it's August 29th of 2017, so, you know, we're give or·5·

·take two months away from trial.·6·

· · · · · ·          When I take all of that into consideration, the·7·

·Court finds that the explanation proffered by MDB for the·8·

·untimely conduct is unacceptable and is not good cause.·9·

·The Court could end its analysis right there.··However, I10·

·think it's always beneficial for the prevailing party who11·

·will prepare the order in this case, and for the12·

·nonprevailing party, to know how I would rule on the13·

·additional three factors.14·

· · · · · ·          Regarding the importance of the requested15·

·untimely action, I did inquire of Mr. Wieczorek about16·

·this magnetic field.··What I know about the case as I sit17·

·here right now, the likelihood of what is being argued18·

·would be the basis for Peter Paul's responsibility is so19·

·wildly implausible to me, and I don't know that there's20·

·any evidence that supports it in the record beyond what21·

·has been referenced by Mr. Aicklen, I just don't even see22·

·that it's that important.··The importance of bringing in23·

·Peter Paul Enterprises at this point is at best24·
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·negligible.·1·

· · · · · ·          The third factor is the potential prejudice in·2·

·allowing the untimely conduct.··I am concerned about the·3·

·fact that by allowing a brand new party into this action,·4·

·it would dramatically impact the other parties' ability·5·

·to have a reasonable resolution of the case in a timely·6·

·fashion.·7·

· · · · · ·          NRCP 1 tells us that all judges should construe·8·

·the Rules of Civil Procedure to ensure the just, speedy,·9·

·and inexpensive resolution of every civil action -- I10·

·think that's what the three factors are -- and if an11·

·amendment came 60 days before trial in a complex case12·

·like this, adding an entirely new party who arguably, at13·

·least it's argued on behalf of MDB, might be entirely14·

·responsible for what occurred, that would be antithetical15·

·to NRCP 1 because it would just be starting the process16·

·all over again.17·

· · · · · ·          And I do appreciate the fact that Versa now, as18·

·the only remaining party in this case along with MDB,19·

·really would have to spend hundreds of thousands of20·

·dollars.··I don't think that's an overestimation, but at21·

·least six figures in order to be ready to go to trial22·

·with that brand new party as part of the proceedings.23·

·And so the Court would find that there is great potential24·
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·prejudice in allowing the untimely conduct.·1·

· · · · · ·          Finally, we'll talk in a moment about the·2·

·ability of a continuance to cure the prejudice.··A·3·

·continuance in this case is not likely.··I would note·4·

·that Mr. Wieczorek is requesting a continuance and that·5·

·he wants a continuance for approximately 120 days or at·6·

·the next available date for the Court.··I know my·7·

·colleagues down in the Eighth are very busy and so are·8·

·we.·9·

· · · · · ·          First off, Mr. Wieczorek requests that I10·

·continue the trial to February 27, 2018, or the next11·

·available stack.··Luckily, I don't practice down in12·

·Las Vegas or haven't had to go through the stack process.13·

·I don't even know what that is, but we don't stack -- we14·

·don't have stacks of cases.··We set trials.··We still15·

·have the ability, luckily, for us to do that, but I'm16·

·setting trials three deep into the end of next year, so I17·

·don't have a three-week trial hole that I can plug you18·

·guys into in February.19·

· · · · · ·          I went, actually, through my calendar and20·

·looked at February, March, into the end of April, and I'm21·

·two or three deep trials of criminal cases and civil22·

·cases, complex litigation, one murder case that's two23·

·weeks long, a sexual assault case, and then on April 30th24·
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·of 2018, I begin a four-week penalty hearing on a death·1·

·penalty case in the State of Nevada vs. Ricky Sechrest.·2·

·Mr. Sechrest was convicted in 1982 of strangling and·3·

·murdering two young girls here in Washoe County, and he·4·

·received the death penalty, and that death penalty was·5·

·overturned in 2015.··So we're going to, for four weeks,·6·

·be doing the penalty hearing in all of May for·7·

·Mr. Sechrest's case.·8·

· · · · · ·          I'm not expecting sympathy from anybody, but my·9·

·calendar is just completely stacked.··There's just not10·

·some reasonable date in the very near future in a couple11·

·of weeks or 120 days out that I can give you.··There is12·

·no availability of a continuance to cure the prejudice13·

·because the continuance, literally, would be almost this14·

·time next year is my guess, and I don't think that that15·

·is reasonable under the circumstances of this case.··And16·

·so the Court would find under the NRCP 16(b) analysis17·

·that good cause has not been demonstrated to amend and18·

·add Peter Paul Enterprises.19·

· · · · · ·          The Court has made its finding regarding all20·

·four factors.··Further, given the fact that the Court21·

·does not find the good cause has been demonstrated22·

·pursuant to NRCP 16(b), the Court sees no need to analyze23·

·the NRCP 15(a) portion regarding the futility argument,24·
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·and so the Court does not address that at all.·1·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Aicklen, do you need any additional·2·

·information from the Court in order to prepare the·3·

·findings of fact, the conclusions of law, and the order·4·

·for me to sign?·5·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No, sir.··We're good.·6·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Okay.··So we've solved that issue.·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, before we move off·8·

·this motion -- I apologize -- I'm not asking you to·9·

·change your mind, but as we were discussing this issue of10·

·the Court's comments about how MDB could have let Versa11·

·know what was going with respect to Peter Paul, I was12·

·reminded of the fact that about a week after the13·

·mediation session, my office requested, and the Court had14·

·granted us, a telephonic status check on this case.··My15·

·recollection at that status conference is I notified both16·

·the Court and Versa's counsel that part of what we were17·

·looking to do, which resulted in my request at that18·

·status conference for a potential stipulated continuance19·

·of the trial, was that we were looking to join a third20·

·party who had been identified, being Peter Paul, and Your21·

·Honor said, "That's fine.··I'm not going to grant an oral22·

·motion for continuance.··You'll have to work out a23·

·stipulation with the parties or make a timely motion."24·
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· · · · · ·          I believe that is the record of that·1·

·conversation, and for purposes of this record I simply·2·

·wanted it to be part of the fact pattern.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··So noted.·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Thank you.·5·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I don't have an independent·6·

·recollection of that nor do I have the minutes here in·7·

·front of me.··I'm sure I could find them somewhere in the·8·

·Court's digital record, but I don't have them in front of·9·

·me at this point, and I don't believe that that would10·

·change the Court's analysis at all.11·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Wieczorek does make a reference to the12·

·June 7th status hearing on page 4 of 7 of his motion that13·

·was filed on June 23rd of 2017.14·

· · · · · ·          Is that the same telephonic status check that15·

·you're talking about, Mr. Wieczorek?16·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Yes, Your Honor.17·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··There's nothing in that footnote18·

·regarding that issue.··The Court doesn't have an19·

·independent recollection at all of the suggestion that20·

·Mr. Wieczorek informed the Court that they, they being21·

·MDB, was looking to join another party.··I don't believe22·

·that the telephone conference was recorded.23·

· · · · · ·          THE CLERK:··Your Honor, there was a court24·
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·reporter there.··I don't think a transcript has been·1·

·filed yet.·2·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··We don't have -- if there was a·3·

·court reporter there, the transcript, it does not appear,·4·

·has been prepared and filed, and as I said, I don't have·5·

·a recollection independently that that was discussed,·6·

·Mr. Wieczorek.··I'm not suggesting that it wasn't.··I'm·7·

·just saying I don't remember that.·8·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I appreciate that, Your Honor.·9·

·Again, I simply wanted to have that point on the record10·

·for whatever purpose it may serve in the future.11·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··So even so, it really doesn't12·

·change fundamentally the Court's analysis because the13·

·deadline had already expired, the notice of Peter Paul14·

·had been provided in January and shaves a couple weeks15·

·off of it but does not substantively change the Court's16·

·analysis one way or the other given the timing of the17·

·pleadings practice that occurred in this case.18·

· · · · · ·          Anything else to add --19·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Just a question.20·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··-- or are you stretching your back?21·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No, no.··This is a question.22·

· · · · · ·          My understanding, listening to your rationale,23·

·would be that you really actually ruled on the motion to24·
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·continue trial as well, No. 3.·1·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I said I was going to get to that·2·

·one --·3·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I'd rather argue the motion to·4·

·strike, but it sounds like the rationale between 1 and 3·5·

·are the same and that they are both denied.·6·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Let's go to -- we've got some time·7·

·left.··Don't worry.··We're going to go to MDB Trucking,·8·

·LLC's Motion to Continue Trial Setting and Related Dates.·9·

·That document is file-stamped June 26th of 2017.··The10·

·Court has received and reviewed the document.11·

· · · · · ·          Further, the Court has received and reviewed12·

·the July 13, 2017, file-stamped Defendant/Cross-Claimant/13·

·Cross-Defendant Versa Products Company, Incorporated's14·

·Opposition to Defendant/Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant15·

·MDB Trucking, LLC's Motion to Continue Trial Setting and16·

·Related Dates.17·

· · · · · ·          The Court has also received and reviewed the18·

·July 24, 2017, file-stamped MDB Trucking, LLC's Reply in19·

·Support of Motion to Continue Trial Setting and Related20·

·Dates, and the matter was submitted for my consideration21·

·on July 25th of 2017, and then, as you know, I directed22·

·that be set for today for oral argument by way of an23·

·order entered on August 1st of 2017.24·
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· · · · · ·          Mr. Aicklen, you really did correctly apprehend·1·

·that I don't believe that a continuance is warranted·2·

·under the circumstances of the case as I currently know·3·

·them to be, given the fact that Peter Paul Enterprises is·4·

·not being joined as a party.··That's basically the thrust·5·

·of MDB's motion to continue is the need to conduct this·6·

·additional discovery, and it presupposes that MDB would·7·

·be granted its leave to add Peter Paul Enterprises as a·8·

·cross-defendant.·9·

· · · · · ·          I would go ahead and defer to Mr. Wieczorek.10·

·It is your motion, so it would inappropriate for Mr.11·

·Aicklen to begin arguing, but to use a poker analogy, I12·

·guess I've tipped my hand a little bit about what my13·

·analysis is.··There's just not a lot of space to put you14·

·in right now that doesn't look like at least the late15·

·fall of next year for a three-week trial.16·

· · · · · ·          And I would also note that I've been setting17·

·all of my other cases around your case, so when we carved18·

·out three weeks for one trial, it's very difficult for19·

·this department, or at least in this district, to find20·

·another three-week spot within the next year.··We're21·

·looking oftentimes far down the road.22·

· · · · · ·          We were able to accommodate the parties'23·

·initial request by some pretty heavy lifting, and it was24·
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·in consideration of the fact that Mr. and Mrs.·1·

·Fitzsimmons, if I remember correctly, were elderly, and·2·

·so they had a right to demand a preferential trial·3·

·setting.··I know that all of the corporate parties were·4·

·against that, and I just said no, we're going to try to·5·

·keep working to get that done because they have a right·6·

·to have that preferential trial setting.·7·

· · · · · ·          Just because the Fitzsimmons and all the other·8·

·plaintiffs are no longer in the case doesn't mean it's·9·

·any easier for me to find that time in the Court's10·

·calendar to give you three weeks in the next six weeks,11·

·as I said, or eight months.··It's just not there.12·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, for what it's13·

·worth, it's no longer a three-week case.··I think it's a14·

·five-day trial now because we're just dealing with a15·

·discrete product issue.··All the plaintiffs are gone, and16·

·I think this case can be put on very efficiently.17·

· · · · · ·          The alternative reason for continuing this18·

·trial date, in addition to trying to get Peter Paul into19·

·it, is the ongoing nature of discovery that is still20·

·happening.··We are not at discovery cutoff yet, although21·

·it's right there.22·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Day after tomorrow.23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Two days.24·
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· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I have an outstanding subpoena·1·

·duces tecum against Peter Paul which they have ignored,·2·

·which I will follow up with them on, which I will seek to·3·

·enforce, which I will seek the Court's intervention if I·4·

·must to get some documents that will allow me to·5·

·effectively try this case.·6·

· · · · · ·          I have outstanding discovery requests to Versa·7·

·that have been pending since last December, which is the·8·

·subject of the fourth motion today, which depending on·9·

·how the Court rules, Versa may be producing additional10·

·new and unredacted documents for my review and my11·

·experts' consideration.··I don't know what's in those12·

·because they haven't produced them, so I believe -- I can13·

·expeditiously review documents once they're in my hands,14·

·but as long as parties are attempting to avoid compliance15·

·with subpoenas or avoid discovery obligations, it makes16·

·it very difficult.17·

· · · · · ·          So the standalone reason for continuing the18·

·trial now is I expect I'm still going to be in court a19·

·month and a half from now trying to get compliance with20·

·certain document requests.··I believe it is, again,21·

·inappropriate, as I said at the last motion, for Versa to22·

·try to run the clock out on this trial date, oppose any23·

·continuance while stonewalling written discovery.··I24·
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·understand Mr. Aicklen has his position on it, but that's·1·

·what it is.··They're not producing documents, and the·2·

·discovery commissioner at least agrees in part with that·3·

·proposition.·4·

· · · · · ·          So in the balancing of the equities, I·5·

·understand the Court doesn't have three weeks for us·6·

·between now and next year.··I don't know if the Court has·7·

·five days for us sometime in the beginning of the year.·8·

·I think it would be an expeditious way to allow MDB, if·9·

·it's going to try this case, to at least do it10·

·effectively and based on full information.11·

· · · · · ·          Right now the parties are not producing stuff.12·

·I ascribe no motivation other than the fact they haven't13·

·produced it, and Peter Paul is, in my view, in contempt14·

·of a subpoena.··How I can deal with that between now and15·

·October 30th is a great challenge, and I think it will16·

·impact the trial, and I think it will impact my ability17·

·to make out a case against Versa where now I am owning18·

·the indemnity payments to all the plaintiffs because I19·

·was the named defendant at least in most of those cases,20·

·but Versa was a named defendant, too, in some.21·

· · · · · ·          I'm owning that, and I'm looking to effectively22·

·and properly exercise rights of contribution.··I can't do23·

·that if the information is withheld, and that's the24·
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·separate reason that I think a brief continuance of the·1·

·trial is warranted, especially since now the scope of it·2·

·has been drastically cut down.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Okay.·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··It's interesting.··There's a·5·

·pattern here.··It's somebody else's issue why they need·6·

·the time.··The only issue -- I know the Court has read·7·

·our objection to the discovery commissioner's report and·8·

·recommendations.··The only things that were redacted are·9·

·the tolerances and specifications of the valve, which is10·

·a very trade-secret-privileged piece of information.11·

· · · · · ·          I don't see how the tolerances and the12·

·specifications -- we gave them the schematics, and it's13·

·just the micron tolerances that were redacted out, and14·

·the reason, since they raised the issue -- it kind of15·

·segues into the objection to the DCR's report -- is that16·

·the confidentiality order which is in place here is not17·

·enough to protect my client.18·

· · · · · ·          My client has -- this is the one valve that is19·

·used by most of the pneumatic controls in the world, and20·

·I'm sure the Court is aware, as everybody else is, if21·

·you've ever walked down Canal Street in New York or22·

·Tchoupitoulas Street in New Orleans or Market Street in23·

·Los Angeles, that if the tolerances and specifications of24·
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·an item are released, that item will be counterfeited,·1·

·and that's why my client did not turn those things over.·2·

· · · · · ·          What do the microns of that valve have to do·3·

·with his need for a continuance for a trial?··It doesn't·4·

·make any sense.·5·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··But we're not talking about that·6·

·yet.·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··But that's what he raised.··He·8·

·said I am obstructing his discovery.··That's why he needs·9·

·a continuance.10·

· · · · · ·          The only outstanding issue -- and I know the11·

·Court has read it, you read the DCRR -- and do you really12·

·think I've tried to obstruct his discovery by not giving13·

·up information which could put my client out of business14·

·because nobody in the world except the United States will15·

·enforce trade market copyright protections?··And the16·

·confidentiality order we have now has a bunch of holes in17·

·it, and it would not protect it.18·

· · · · · ·          I've got to tell you, Your Honor --19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··But, Mr. Aicklen, regarding the20·

·confidentiality order, wasn't the confidentiality order21·

·drafted by the parties and agreed to by the parties?22·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··But not about the specifications23·

·for an actual trade-secret-protected item.··It wasn't24·
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·contemplated that we would turn over how to build the·1·

·world's best-selling pneumatic valve down to the micron.·2·

·That wasn't contemplated at that time, Your Honor.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Well, we'll talk about that·4·

·momentarily.·5·

· · · · · ·          Do you have anything else to add regarding the·6·

·motion to continue?·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I think the trial will be a·8·

·little bit shorter.··I wouldn't say five days.··I'd say·9·

·seven because generally it takes -- you've got a day of10·

·arguing motions, you've got two days of picking a jury --11·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No, we don't.··We don't argue12·

·motions.··We're going to trial on Monday, October 30th.13·

·I appreciate everybody's different and you haven't done a14·

·trial with me before, but all pretrial issues, all15·

·pretrial motions need to be fully briefed and submitted16·

·to the Court for consideration 30 days before trial.17·

·That's not filed.··That's fully submitted.··That's18·

·pursuant to the Court's pretrial order.··All motions in19·

·limine are fully briefed and submitted to the Court for20·

·consideration no fewer than 15 days before trial, and I21·

·resolve all of those issues.22·

· · · · · ·          When I'm in trial, we start at 8:30 and we do23·

·trial work.··We don't waste the jury's trial arguing24·
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·pretrial motions.··They're here, we're here.··We grind·1·

·from 8:30 until about quarter of 5:00 every day with·2·

·reasonable breaks three times a day.·3·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I was not aware of the Court's·4·

·practice, and that is a great one because, as you say, it·5·

·is boring for the jury to sit out at all.··I have tried·6·

·cases up here and some of the other judges aren't as --·7·

·they're more like you come in and now you're going to·8·

·argue the motions and things like that.·9·

· · · · · ·          But nonetheless, I don't see five days.··I10·

·don't see picking a jury and putting on four different11·

·experts and all the damages and amounts and PMKs in five12·

·days.··I would say seven to ten days.··Maybe even that is13·

·an aggressive estimate.14·

· · · · · ·          And, again, I'd rather just go on October 30th.15·

·If the reason for the continuance was they needed their16·

·case against Peter Paul, they don't have a case against17·

·Peter Paul.··Let's go try the case we have now.··I'm18·

·ready to go.19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Anything else to add,20·

·Mr. Wieczorek?21·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··We're all interested in trying22·

·the case, Judge.··Let's just try a fair case.··Again, I23·

·would kind of like to try a case based on full disclosure24·
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·evidence, full information regarding the salient issue in·1·

·this case.·2·

· · · · · ·          Your Honor has expressed some skepticism about·3·

·this theory of EMF.··Somewhere in those documents that·4·

·answer is found, and parties have not been willing to·5·

·produce it yet, and I am working hard to get it, but I·6·

·have not experienced full compliance with my request to·7·

·be able to start on October 30th and tell the jury this·8·

·is it.·9·

· · · · · ·          Thank you.10·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Thank you.11·

· · · · · ·          The Court does not find that there is good12·

·cause as the case is currently situated to continue the13·

·trial.··The Court will address momentarily the discovery14·

·issue that remains outstanding.15·

· · · · · ·          The two reasons for the continuance primarily16·

·are that the thought that somehow Peter Paul Enterprises17·

·would be brought in as a cross-defendant in this case and18·

·the thought that there is additional discovery that needs19·

·to be provided and looked into.··Both of those issues20·

·have been or will be resolved today.··The first one was21·

·resolved by the denial of the motion to amend.··The22·

·second one will be addressed momentarily, but neither of23·

·those issues rise to the level of a need for continuance24·
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·as we sit here on August 29th of 2017.·1·

· · · · · ·          I'm not suggesting that things will change·2·

·between now and October 30th.··Certainly the closer we·3·

·get to the trial date, the more critical eye I would·4·

·apply to any motion or a renewed motion to continue, but·5·

·if circumstances change, legitimately change, as you·6·

·prepare for trial on October 30th, Mr. Wieczorek, you·7·

·have the right to raise the issue again if it's·8·

·different, if something new has occurred, not on what you·9·

·think may have occurred or what may occur.10·

· · · · · ·          That's kind of the argument that you're making11·

·now:··I'm having difficulty; I don't know if I can be12·

·able to go; I don't know if they're going to provide me13·

·what I need.··Those are all hypotheticals.··If something14·

·actually takes place, then you can file a motion to15·

·continue, you can ask that it be set on an expedited16·

·basis, the Court will consider both requests in a timely17·

·fashion, and we'll go from there.18·

· · · · · ·          But as I currently sit, the Court sees no good19·

·cause to continue the trial, and therefore the motion to20·

·continue is denied.··And, again, Mr. Aicklen, as the21·

·prevailing party, you can prepare the findings of fact22·

·and conclusions of law and order of the Court.23·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Will do, Your Honor.24·
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· · · · · ·          Now we are moving into the motion filed by·1·

·Mr. Aicklen, the Defendant/Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant·2·

·Versa Products Company, Incorporated's Motion to Strike·3·

·Defendant/Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant MDB Trucking,·4·

·LLC's Cross-Claim Pursuant to NRCP 35 or, In the·5·

·Alternative, for an Adverse Jury Instruction.·6·

· · · · · ·          That document was filed on May 15th of 2017.·7·

·There was an errata filed on May 15th of 2017 and an·8·

·errata filed on May 16th of 2017.··The Court has received·9·

·and reviewed all of those documents.10·

· · · · · ·          Additionally, the Court has received and11·

·reviewed the June 2, 2017, file-stamped MDB's Opposition12·

·to Versa Products Company, Incorporated's Motion to13·

·Strike and/or Spoliation Instructions; and the Court has14·

·received and reviewed the June 12, 2017, file-stamped15·

·Defendant/Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant Versa Products16·

·Company, Incorporated's Reply to MDB's Opposition to17·

·Versa Products Company, Incorporated's Motion to Strike18·

·MDB Trucking, LLC's Cross-Claim Pursuant to NRCP 37 -- I19·

·thought that was wrong, it's 37 in the reply -- and then20·

·it goes on, the title -- or, In the Alternative, for an21·

·Adverse Jury Instruction.22·

· · · · · ·          I think in the original motion from May 15th of23·

·2017 it should say NRCP 37, not 35.24·
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· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Right.··And that was the errata,·1·

·and I was not happy.·2·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··That's okay.··But that was funny·3·

·when I read that.··It was like, wait a minute, and then I·4·

·forgot the errata part.·5·

· · · · · ·          And then the matter was submitted for the·6·

·Court's consideration on June 12th of 2017 and has been·7·

·directed to be part of the oral arguments today.·8·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Aicklen, go ahead.·9·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Thank you, sir.10·

· · · · · ·          This sounds kind of odd.··Could I use your11·

·chalkboard?··Do you mind?12·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··You would be the first person in13·

·almost five years to actually use the chalkboard.··I14·

·thought about getting rid of it.··I've got a whiteboard.15·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No, no.··I think it's important,16·

·actually, and it would be helpful.17·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Please feel free to use the18·

·chalkboard.19·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Can you see it?20·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I can see it on this side.21·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··The reason I want to use is22·

·because I think it's very important to visually23·

·understand what is going on with the evidence in this24·
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·case.·1·

· · · · · ·          This motion is brought under 37(f) and Young·2·

·vs. Ribeiro, but it's not where somebody puts a note into·3·

·their diary to try and document damages like Young was.·4·

·This is about adversely and, in fact, willfully throwing·5·

·away evidence.··So I think it's important for the Court·6·

·to understand what's written down here but to be able to·7·

·visualize it.·8·

· · · · · ·          You know, basically everybody knows -- I'm a·9·

·terrible artist, okay -- but everybody knows we have a10·

·tractor-trailer, and that is the Freightliner in this11·

·case, and at the back of that tractor-trailer you have12·

·where the trailers hook onto it, and then we have two13·

·trailers, tandem trailers, that are bottom dumpers, and,14·

·you know, the quality of my artistic talents is very low,15·

·but this part of it is not that important.16·

· · · · · ·          You have a control panel up where the driver17·

·sits, and at that control panel is a switch, and it18·

·energizes all the way back to here (indicating) because19·

·this is where that -- this is where those pneumatic gates20·

·are.··And you read all this stuff, but it helps to21·

·visualize it.22·

· · · · · ·          This is why this is important.··The controls23·

·actually run in what's called a four-plug cable, and they24·
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·are routed through the frame of the Freightliner, and·1·

·they come out at the back -- and this is all based on·2·

·both the plaintiffs' and defendants' experts' testimony·3·

·and photographs -- and they come out the back and they're·4·

·actually suspended on a little coil, and that is either a·5·

·male or female plug, meaning one plugs into the other.·6·

· · · · · ·          And then on the first trailer where it·7·

·connects, you have a connector that connects with the one·8·

·that's coming off of the tractor-trailer, so that's your·9·

·first connection.10·

· · · · · ·          And then there is a series of cable that's run11·

·through the trailer, and then at the back, that cable has12·

·another connector on it, and the back trailer has another13·

·connector, and those two connect, and that is what14·

·controls the valve.··So you have a connection in the15·

·cab -- one-, two- -- four-pin connectors, a cable --16·

·one-, two- -- four-pin connectors, and then it controls17·

·the valve.18·

· · · · · ·          The evidence from MDB's witnesses is that all19·

·of these connectors were removed between the time of the20·

·dump that they sued over and the time that the experts21·

·inspected it, they were all removed and thrown away, but22·

·not -- they weren't just removed and thrown away.··They23·

·were removed and thrown away almost two years after the24·
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·incident.··They were torn out in an incident and then put·1·

·back on, and then when they were broken a second time,·2·

·they were replaced and thrown away.·3·

· · · · · ·          Why is that important?··Well, first of all,·4·

·what the experts looked at is not the component -- the·5·

·electrical components in this case.··They've been·6·

·replaced.··So the electrical components that were there·7·

·in July 2014 are not what the experts inspected.··How is·8·

·my expert, how is my expert supposed to say it wasn't the·9·

·problem with the valve or -- strike that -- a problem10·

·with the connector, a failure of the connector, when he11·

·didn't look at the actual connectors because MDB took12·

·them off and threw them away.··That is the first and13·

·crucial issue because that's related to the electronics14·

·or the electrical system.15·

· · · · · ·          The second issue is -- I want to show you --16·

·and I'm not saying anything here that none of the experts17·

·haven't said -- that's a four-pin plug, and in the18·

·four-pin plug you have a hot and a neutral for each of19·

·the -- a hot and a ground, you call it, in a DC system --20·

·for each of the gates, and this is insulated with a21·

·substance that's called Bakelite, which is plastic, and22·

·if Bakelite gets hit -- it's very brittle -- if Bakelite23·

·gets hit, then these contacts will go short to ground.24·
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·And this is in the experts' reports as well.·1·

· · · · · ·          What is the importance of that?··Well, if the·2·

·hot wire goes to ground, that opens or that opens·3·

·(indicating).··So if all the experts have inspected all·4·

·of the remaining materials and all they can say is that·5·

·it's some type of EMF force that we don't know -- and·6·

·that's plaintiffs, that's not my people, by the way,·7·

·that's not the defense experts -- defendants' experts say·8·

·more likely than not it was an inadvertent dump by·9·

·Mr. Koski or a failure of one of the connecting10·

·components.11·

· · · · · ·          How can I defend against their electrical12·

·failure claim when they have thrown away key components13·

·that could have been, and more likely than not were, the14·

·cause of the dump?··They knew about the litigation.··They15·

·threw these things away after the lawsuit has been filed.16·

· · · · · ·          You'll recall that -- I appreciate you letting17·

·me do that.··You'll recall that I tried to move to compel18·

·to find out if the defense counsel had ever told MDB that19·

·they needed to save this evidence, because I'll tell you,20·

·it wasn't just electrical components that were torn out21·

·and thrown away.··They continued to use the truck and all22·

·the components for two and a half years.23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Well, that raises an interesting24·
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·issue, and I thought about it as I was reading your·1·

·motion practice.·2·

· · · · · ·          Is there some analysis that a property owner·3·

·needs to go through to determine what to do with the·4·

·property under these circumstances?··So, theoretically,·5·

·if it's -- I'm trying to think of something innocuous --·6·

·if it's a toaster and the toaster is the subject of the·7·

·question, you know, we can say, well, go buy another·8·

·toaster and put that one toaster aside.··It's 30 bucks·9·

·or, if my wife buys it, it's $70, but it's a toaster.10·

· · · · · ·          But then it becomes more and more difficult,11·

·arguably, if it's some big piece of equipment like this.12·

·I mean, this is MDB's business, so is the suggestion that13·

·MDB had a responsibility, under the facts and14·

·circumstances of this case, to take this entire rig from15·

·front to back out of service and leave it sitting in a16·

·lot somewhere or a garage somewhere available for17·

·everyone to inspect?··Is that what you're thinking?··Or18·

·is it just they had an obligation to maintain it, and if19·

·something happened to it, they can't dispose of the20·

·components that are obviously important to the cause of21·

·action?22·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I think your first question is,23·

·should they have put Versa on notice?··Absolutely.··If24·
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·their theory was that this Versa valve failed and it·1·

·caused these 28 collisions, then they should have sent a·2·

·certified letter to Versa saying, "Your valve failed.·3·

·We're going to seek indemnity against you.··Keep all your·4·

·documents that you have related to this."··At a minimum·5·

·they should have put us on notice.·6·

· · · · · ·          But we're not even talking about that.··We're·7·

·talking about them continuing to use it and then to take·8·

·the components.··I am not suggesting that they had to·9·

·take the whole Freightliner and both of those trailers10·

·and park them on a yard until the case went to trial.11·

·That's not what I'm suggesting.12·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Or at least until some sort of13·

·discovery could have been done or inspection occurs.14·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Or how about just this?··You,15·

·MDB, contend that it is a failure of the Versa valve.16·

·You must take out the entirety of the system that17·

·controls the Versa valve and retain that so that we can18·

·defend ourselves against the claim that it is defective.19·

· · · · · ·          And you know what?··The interesting thing, too,20·

·is -- and this is why it's so important in this case --21·

·none of any of the parties, whether they work for MDB or22·

·work for the plaintiffs -- MDB's experts or our defense23·

·experts have ever found that they found a defect with the24·
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·subject valve.··They even tore it down and nobody found a·1·

·defect with it.··So that means that the defect must have·2·

·been in one of the components that was thrown away.··That·3·

·is crucial evidence, and that's not --·4·

· · · · · ·          I see you turn away there.··Are you thinking --·5·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No.··I apologize.··I put my glasses·6·

·on and glanced down at something.·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I'm sorry.··I thought you were·8·

·thinking that I was going to wait for you.·9·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No.··I'd just interrupt you if10·

·that's the case.11·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That's normally how I do it, too.12·

·I'm sorry.··I've got a little headache because of my13·

·back.14·

· · · · · ·          But this isn't a tire on the back that was15·

·changed between the time of the inadvertent dump and the16·

·present.··This was their theory of the case that it was17·

·an electrical malfunction that inadvertently triggered18·

·it.··They either didn't know or purposefully tore out19·

·components of the system they allege to be defective and20·

·threw them away.··Not just tore them out, but threw them21·

·away.22·

· · · · · ·          They also altered the actual gate itself.··They23·

·welded onto it and drilled and put a pin into it, and24·
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·then they continued to use the subject valve.··How about·1·

·just take the subject valve off two and a half years ago?·2·

·Because even if it might be microns, every time you·3·

·operate steel on steel, it changes the tolerances.··There·4·

·is wear.··So the hundreds or thousands of times that·5·

·these things have been dumped since the time of the·6·

·July 2014 dumping to the time it was taken off the truck,·7·

·not even the subject valve is the same.·8·

· · · · · ·          And who did that?··The party that did it is the·9·

·one that's saying, "Oh, your product is defective, but10·

·we're going to throw away the evidence you need to prove11·

·that it was one of these components in the electrical12·

·system as opposed to your product that did it."13·

· · · · · ·          I'm not saying they should have parked that14·

·truck for two years and not used it.··They should have15·

·given us notice and they should have allowed us to16·

·inspect.··They didn't do that.··Even after the lawsuit17·

·was filed, they still tore things out and threw them18·

·away, and if you look -- you have to take that19·

·information.20·

· · · · · ·          If you do not take any action, if you do not21·

·strike the cross-claim, then what have they done?22·

·They've thrown away the evidence that I need to prove my23·

·defenses, but they're going to get rewarded for it.··On24·
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·cross-examination they're going to be able to look at my·1·

·expert and say, "You didn't look at the same system, did·2·

·you?··It was a different system."··They're going to be·3·

·rewarded.·4·

· · · · · ·          If this case goes to trial and we don't strike·5·

·this complaint, this is worse than Young vs. Ribeiro·6·

·because in that case they caught him on cross-exam, and·7·

·they proved that he had faked the evidence and that's why·8·

·they struck his complaint.·9·

· · · · · ·          Here what they've done is throw away the10·

·evidence so I can't defend, and then they get to use that11·

·against me at the trial of the case.12·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Isn't that the Zenith case -- I'm13·

·trying to remember -- where there was a TV that was lost?14·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Yes.··Yes.··In a subro action, a15·

·fire subro action.··And it's very similar.··In fact, this16·

·is even a better analogy.··You talked about the toaster17·

·oven, that your wife would go get another one?18·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Yes.19·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··What if when that occurred, what20·

·if you kept the toaster elements and threw away the cord21·

·and the connections and then said to the toaster company,22·

·"Your product was defective," when it could have just23·

·been you plugged it in backwards, the cord was frayed,24·
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·all those things.·1·

· · · · · ·          They have deprived me of the evidence to prove·2·

·my case, and if nothing happens, then they benefit from·3·

·it.··I know you know that -- that you have read these·4·

·pleadings, but I think that we need to look at just at·5·

·least a couple of the Young factors.··All right?·6·

· · · · · ·          The first, the degree of willfulness of the·7·

·offending party.··Their PMK said, "Oh, yeah, not only did·8·

·we take that stuff off, we threw it away."·9·

· · · · · ·          They had to know, with a 28-car collision on10·

·the freeway where people are taken away in ambulances and11·

·they know that they've got claims from it, that there is12·

·going to be a lawsuit.··"We took the components off and13·

·we threw them away."14·

· · · · · ·          The extent to which the nonoffending party15·

·would be prejudiced, I cannot mount a definitive defense16·

·because everybody who's looked at my valve says, "Oh,17·

·there's no defect to it," which means logically to me --18·

·I was an electrician for 20 years before I went to law19·

·school -- if there's no electrical defect with the valve,20·

·then one of those components in the system went short to21·

·ground and triggered it, but they tore it out and they22·

·threw it away.23·

· · · · · ·          So what's the prejudice to me?··I can't defend24·
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·with what was probably, in my mind, absolutely the cause·1·

·of that trigger, a failure of one of those male or female·2·

·couplings.·3·

· · · · · ·          The severity of the sanction of dismissal·4·

·relative to the severity of the discovery abuse.··Well,·5·

·if I can't prove my defense, why is it too severe to·6·

·strike his cross-claim?··It wasn't me that did it.··It·7·

·was MDB that did it.··I don't think the severity is too·8·

·much.·9·

· · · · · ·          They're coming back after me saying, "We want10·

·$2,000,000 for indemnity monies we paid out to the11·

·plaintiffs in these cases, but we threw away the evidence12·

·you need to defend it."··I didn't do it, so the severity13·

·is not too severe.14·

· · · · · ·          Whether any evidence has been irreparably lost.15·

·That's clear.··The PMK said, "We threw it out.··We threw16·

·it in the trash after we took it off."··No question17·

·there.18·

· · · · · ·          The feasibility and fairness of alternative,19·

·less severe sanctions.··What would the less severe20·

·sanctions be?··I really can't think of -- this isn't a21·

·negligence claim, this is a products claim, so if you22·

·don't have the component --23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Hold on, Mr. Aicklen.24·
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· · · · · ·          Another sanction short of striking their claim,·1·

·theoretically, could be striking their expert.·2·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Well, that's going to come·3·

·anyway.·4·

· · · · · ·          Let's think about this logically.··Let's think·5·

·about this logically.··If you strike their expert on a·6·

·products liability case, can they go to trial?··No, they·7·

·can't.··They have to have an expert.·8·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I'm trying to think how it would·9·

·work.··I love that type of mental gymnastics.··I'm not10·

·saying I'm going to strike their expert.··I'm trying to11·

·think how it would work.12·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··This would be beyond the13·

·understanding of the standard juror, I think is the14·

·standard such that you have to have expert testimony.··So15·

·if you struck their expert for destroying the evidence,16·

·I'd nonsuit them or I'd ask for a motion for directed17·

·verdict immediately because they wouldn't be able to meet18·

·the burden of proof.··The average juror is not going to19·

·understand the operation of a hydropneumatic and solenoid20·

·valve.21·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··They would with a fancy drawing22·

·like that.23·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That is poor, that is very poor.24·
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· · · · · ·          So there's really no less severe sanction,·1·

·or what if you crafted a jury instruction that said, "Due·2·

·to MDB recklessly or willfully throwing away evidence·3·

·crucial to the defense of the case, you must presume that·4·

·that evidence would have been in favor of the defendant·5·

·Versa"?·6·

· · · · · ·          Well, what have you just done?··You've just·7·

·given a directed verdict on a products liability claim;·8·

·do you see?··Any sanction other than striking the claim·9·

·is the same thing.··It just takes me all the way to trial10·

·and another 50-, $75,000 to get there.11·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Well, that's not always the case.12·

·I know from not my own personal experience but experience13·

·with a colleague of mine, that on one occasion a judge14·

·gave the jury an advisory opinion suggesting that the15·

·jury should find -- in this case it was a criminal16·

·case -- but find the defendant not guilty.··There is no17·

·such thing as a -- the Court doesn't directly do that.18·

·All the Court can do in Nevada, unlike other states, is19·

·advise the jury that the Court believes that the State20·

·has not met its burden beyond a reasonable doubt.21·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That's a criminal case, though.22·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I understand that, but the reason23·

·I'm making that point is this:··The jury disregarded it24·
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·and convicted the guy anyway.··And I can tell you that·1·

·the attorney who prevailed on that was very angry at the·2·

·judge because he thought his case just went into the·3·

·toilet and then went in and argued it and said, "Hey,·4·

·disregard what the judge says.··Find the defendant guilty·5·

·anyway.··He's just giving you his opinion.··It's up to·6·

·the 12 of you" -- or in this case the 8 of you -- "to·7·

·decide what happened."·8·

· · · · · ·          It's not always the case that just because that·9·

·inferential instruction is given, that the jury will10·

·regard it.··I think it's reasonable to assume 95 times at11·

·least out of 100 that they will.12·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··But, see, if you gave the13·

·instruction that you would assume that the evidence would14·

·be favorable to the defendant, that would mean that it15·

·wasn't a product defect, and therefore they could not16·

·meet the burden of proof.17·

· · · · · ·          This isn't a slip-and-fall where the average18·

·person would know, hey, if you don't put out a sign, it's19·

·dangerous, or you're doing 60 in a 55, you shouldn't do20·

·that.··Those are the types of things the jury is going to21·

·have without an expert.22·

· · · · · ·          They couldn't not have an expert here, and if23·

·you instructed them, even a rebuttable presumption, I24·
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·would immediately move -- if the state of the evidence·1·

·was such that you struck their expert or said, "You must·2·

·presume that it would have exonerated the defendant," I'd·3·

·immediately move for a directed verdict because they·4·

·cannot meet the burden of proof.·5·

· · · · · ·          They have to prove that a product was defective·6·

·and it was defective when it left the factory, and it was·7·

·used as intended and it caused the damage.··Well, if you·8·

·don't have the product and you give them that·9·

·instruction, you can't prove it was defective and you10·

·can't prove it was defective when it came out of the11·

·factory, and that is a directed verdict.12·

· · · · · ·          So essentially, by acknowledging what they're13·

·doing and the results of it and the willfulness of it,14·

·you are getting to that solution two months and $150,00015·

·earlier.16·

· · · · · ·          The 7th one is whether sanctions unfairly17·

·operate to penalize a party for the misconduct of his or18·

·her attorney.··I do not know -- I don't know if prior19·

·defense counsel -- not Mr. Wieczorek -- if prior defense20·

·counsel told MDB, "Hey, you better hold onto the stuff,"21·

·but I do know that they still had it on the road and they22·

·were still using after the lawsuit was filed.··So it was23·

·either -- it may have been the party before -- right? --24·
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·that did it, but after the lawsuit was filed, if they're·1·

·still using it on the road, I presume that the lawyers·2·

·didn't tell them not to.·3·

· · · · · ·          So that is a toss-up.··And you know what?·4·

·Truthfully, it doesn't even matter because there's not an·5·

·issue here of whether it happened, and it certainly·6·

·wasn't the lawyers that tore out that stuff and threw it·7·

·away.··So you're not punishing the client for the actions·8·

·of the attorney.··Maybe they didn't tell them, but that·9·

·was already after the stuff was thrown away.··Maybe the10·

·lawyer said, "Take that thing off the road.··Take the11·

·components out.··We have to save it.··It's evidence."12·

·But that isn't who actually threw away the evidence.··It13·

·was the plaintiff themselves.··So that is not -- you're14·

·not punishing the party for the actions of the attorney.15·

· · · · · ·          I think this one is really important, No. 8,16·

·the need to deter both the parties and future litigants17·

·from similar abuses.··In the facts of this case, the18·

·evidence that was thrown away is the exact evidence that19·

·I need to prove my defense of the case.··This is the most20·

·egregious example.21·

· · · · · ·          I'm not being rhetorical here.··If my22·

·product that everybody has looked at is not defective,23·

·then one of those cables or connectors was.··That's all24·
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·it was.··It wasn't little green men shooting EMF out of·1·

·the sky, and it wasn't a guy running alongside the truck·2·

·at 65 miles an hour with a ferrous magnet.··It was one of·3·

·those connectors and they threw it away.·4·

· · · · · ·          So if you don't strike their complaint, you're·5·

·just telling them, you know what?··Egregious, willful,·6·

·went on for years.··Not only took it off and put it into·7·

·a box to held onto it, but took it off and threw it away.·8·

·That's okay.··You can do that.··You can do that again.·9·

·No.··This is what Rule 37 and Young-Ribeiro were made10·

·for.··Their claim, they did it, strike it.11·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Thank you.12·

· · · · · ·          Counsel, we're going to take a brief recess.13·

·It's 20 minutes after 3:00.··So we'll be in recess until14·

·about 3:30 so everyone can stretch their legs.15·

· · · · · ·          (A recess was taken.)16·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··We'll go back on the record in17·

·Fitzsimmons vs. MDB Trucking, et al., in considering the18·

·motion for sanctions pursuant to NRCP 37 filed on behalf19·

·of Versa.20·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Wieczorek, your argument.21·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Thank you, Your Honor.22·

· · · · · ·          First, I think it bears pointing out the timing23·

·of this motion.··This motion was filed on May 15th of24·
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·this year, which is roughly two weeks before mediation in·1·

·the case, and I think it was filed roughly in tandem with·2·

·Versa's motion for summary judgment on other issues in·3·

·the case.·4·

· · · · · ·          The fact of this theory that Mr. Aicklen had·5·

·was well known two and a half months before the filing of·6·

·this motion.··So going back to our earlier discussion·7·

·about Peter Paul, if they had known something that was so·8·

·drastically important to their case at the time it·9·

·happened, they should have moved forward more10·

·expeditiously and smoothly.11·

· · · · · ·          Having said that, though, the theory that12·

·Mr. Aicklen has spent time telling the Court is fine.13·

·The problem is no one else apparently believes it.··So if14·

·you read the expert reports not only of the MDB experts,15·

·who completely discount this idea of the wiring and pins16·

·actually being a precipitating cause of the incident, if17·

·you look at Versa's own expert, Garrett Mitchell's,18·

·reports, he doesn't discuss this issue.··He doesn't raise19·

·this issue.··He doesn't say his investigation was20·

·hampered by this issue.··He doesn't say he couldn't21·

·complete his investigation because of this issue.··He22·

·never addresses that issue.··His case, as his focus23·

·should be, is on the Versa valve and how it came to24·
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·inadvertently activate.·1·

· · · · · ·          So to the extent Mr. Aicklen is asking for a·2·

·death knell sanction against MDB for his theory of what·3·

·may have happened, it should at least be borne out by·4·

·some competent expert opinion that validates his·5·

·position, and there is none in this case.·6·

· · · · · ·          The issue of maintenance on this valve has been·7·

·well known through discovery.··This is not somebody·8·

·hiding the ball.··This was revealed in the case, and,·9·

·again, this motion was filed about a month before Versa's10·

·expert's initial report was published.··One would think11·

·if this was such a critical factor in this case, damaging12·

·Versa's defenses, their own expert would opine on it, and13·

·he chose not to, again, because in my view it simply is a14·

·nonissue.··It's a device to get a motion before Your15·

·Honor, which is, I think, a sideshow to the big issue,16·

·which is the Versa valve itself.17·

· · · · · ·          Add to that the fact that the experts in this18·

·case, including Versa's own expert, not only inspected19·

·the at-issue truck, but an exemplar truck.··Not only an20·

·exemplar truck, but the exact same truck that was21·

·involved in the exact same dumping episode an hour before22·

·the incident in this case, presumably with the same23·

·wiring.24·
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· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··But the difficulty I would have·1·

·with that argument, Mr. Wieczorek, is this:··We don't·2·

·know exactly what conditions that exact same truck was·3·

·exposed to, and so it's easy to say that it's the exact·4·

·same truck, but it's really not because it hasn't been·5·

·subject to the same conditions that the truck in question·6·

·was exposed to.·7·

· · · · · ·          And even if we assume that you got all the·8·

·maintenance logs for both and they appear to be the same,·9·

·given the nature of what we're talking about, it's not10·

·exactly the same.··The only way we would know it is11·

·exactly the same is if it was exposed to the exact same12·

·conditions at the exact same time, but if one truck is13·

·always in Phoenix and the other truck is always in Des14·

·Moines, they're exposed to different weather conditions.15·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Certainly.··But we do know the16·

·exact same thing happened to that truck within one hour,17·

·the exact same thing happened, an inadvertent activation18·

·of the valve.19·

· · · · · ·          So I understand Mr. Aicklen's theory, I20·

·understand the fact he would have perhaps liked to have21·

·seen the original pins and the original wiring and the22·

·original whatever else was swapped out so this truck23·

·could remain in operation, but the fact is none of the24·
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·experts who are going to testify in this case have·1·

·adopted that analysis or that rationale.·2·

· · · · · ·          It would be inappropriate to sanction MDB based·3·

·on a theory that their counsel holds which apparently·4·

·none of the experts do, and to the extent we spent time·5·

·going through the Ribeiro factors, you know, you -- I can·6·

·recite them all to yourself, Your Honor.··This is not --·7·

·Versa likes to throw out the term "abusive litigation·8·

·practices."··That's the thrust of this motion, that MDB·9·

·engaged in abusive litigation practices.10·

· · · · · ·          And you just look at the facts of this case.11·

·You know, this is a company that's trying to keep its12·

·fleet in operation.··They use these trucks; they perform13·

·maintenance on them.··There's no connection as to whether14·

·that impacted or affected this event at all, and counsel15·

·was not hiding the ball on this.··It became well known16·

·through discovery and, again, none of the experts have17·

·opined on it.18·

· · · · · ·          So I think this is not a motion based in good19·

·faith on trying to salvage defenses for a party that's20·

·going to get slapped at trial because real evidence was21·

·damaged or destroyed.··This is a shift or a diversion22·

·from the real issue in this case, which is the valve23·

·itself and what I think was Versa's attempt to simply24·
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·obtain some leverage for purposes of other factors in·1·

·this case, including the mediation which occurred less·2·

·than two weeks after the motion was filed.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Anything else?·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··No.··Thank you.·5·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Thank you.·6·

· · · · · ·          Hold on a second.··Let me look at something.·7·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Aicklen, go ahead.·8·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Thank you, Your Honor.·9·

· · · · · ·          There is no strategic timing of this motion.10·

·The motion became ripe when we finished all the discovery11·

·and the depositions, especially when we found that they12·

·had thrown it away.13·

· · · · · ·          An expert's opinion is just that, an expert's14·

·opinion.··How can an expert opine, "Hey, I found what15·

·triggered it.··It was a busted four-way connector, the16·

·Bakelite was gone, it touched short to ground, and it17·

·triggered the valve," when they threw the connector away?18·

·How can the expert say, "Eureka, I found it," when they19·

·threw away the evidence?20·

· · · · · ·          There seems to be a pattern of trying to, like,21·

·blame me or Versa for -- and in this circumstance MDB --22·

·throwing away the evidence.··This is not a sideshow.··As23·

·the Court pointed out, exemplar evidence is not the24·
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·actual evidence in the case.··We don't -- Hallmark·1·

·doesn't say you go try cases on exemplar evidence.··In·2·

·fact, it rejects -- I mean, if that's all you can get and·3·

·you don't have anything else, you're done.·4·

· · · · · ·          And to say that, you know, I'm sure the experts·5·

·would have liked to see it, no, that's not what it is.·6·

·It's evidence in the case where your theory is that it·7·

·was an electrical malfunction, and you threw away one,·8·

·two, three, four, five, six key components of the·9·

·electrical system.··And now you come and say, well, the10·

·experts didn't find that to be the problem, so it's a11·

·sideshow show, it's not important.12·

· · · · · ·          Well, it is their theory.··How can the experts13·

·opine on what is not there?··The experts have said there14·

·is no evidence of any defect, but if the original of the15·

·connectors had been there -- just think about it.··If all16·

·the experts say there's no defect, it's this17·

·electromagnetic force, which by the way didn't trigger18·

·any other solenoids -- we didn't have people's hoods19·

·popping open and their trunks popping open driving across20·

·the freeway -- if their theory of the case is these21·

·electromagnetic forces, which they can't tell us where22·

·they came from, and all the experts say, you know what,23·

·based on the state of the evidence, we don't find a24·
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·defect, so it's got to be human error, then how can you·1·

·say that it is -- it is not a case dispositive sanction·2·

·to throw away a series of components that are crucial to·3·

·the issue?·4·

· · · · · ·          They allege an electrical malfunction.··They·5·

·threw away a big chunk of the electrical system, and·6·

·anything other than striking their cross-claim will tell·7·

·them and others in the future that you can chuck out the·8·

·evidence and still go forward with your case.·9·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Remind me, if you could,10·

·Mr. Aicklen, regarding the truck that we're talking about11·

·on July 7th of 2014, were both trailers full of gravel or12·

·just one trailer?13·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Both trailers were full of14·

·gravel.15·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Did both trailers dump the gravel?16·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Just the rear dumped the gravel.17·

·That would seem --18·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Does that support or refute the19·

·whole solenoid magnetic field argument because --20·

·granted, this is my high school education coming into21·

·play -- but if there's a magnetic field that would cause22·

·this to occur, then presumably wouldn't it occur with23·

·both of the trailers as they pass through the magnetic24·
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·field?·1·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··And how about the starter motor,·2·

·which is actuated by a solenoid, and the electric door --·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I guess what I would say about that·4·

·is I don't know if they're identical solenoids.··I guess·5·

·you have to look at each type of solenoid and see if it's·6·

·similarly affected by magnetic fields.··It gets back to·7·

·the argument about trunks popping open or your gas tank·8·

·popping open.·9·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··It's a magnetic relay.··If you10·

·put 12 volts to it, it pulls a pole.··You hear it when11·

·you unlock your doors.··You energize it, it energizes a12·

·magnet, it pulls a pole and opens.13·

· · · · · ·          So you are correct.··If there had been some14·

·type of electromagnetic force that had acted upon the15·

·truck, there is an exact same Versa valve on double No.16·

·1, and it would have triggered that.··And that actually17·

·supports the fact that the loss of these component18·

·systems is even more crucial, because odds are it was19·

·somewhere back of the first valve because they're two20·

·separate systems.··It's in one four-pin connector, but21·

·there's two circuits.··You trigger one circuit, the front22·

·one dumps.··You trigger the second circuit, the back one23·

·dumps.··The fact that the back one dumped and the front24·

AA001531



94

·one did not actually supports the theory that there was a·1·

·failure in that four-pin connector, but we will never·2·

·know because they tore it off and threw it away.··Didn't·3·

·even keep it.··They threw it away.·4·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Okay, Counsel.·5·

· · · · · ·          It's interesting.··I had to address a similar·6·

·issue late last year, the issue of spoliation of·7·

·evidence.··It was a case of then Judge Stiglich's, but·8·

·she had been appointed to the Nevada Supreme Court, so at·9·

·the time I was considering the case and she was Justice10·

·Stiglich at that point, but it was a motion to dismiss11·

·based on spoliation of evidence.12·

· · · · · ·          The parties in that case were a local casino13·

·and an elevator corporation or an elevator service14·

·corporation, and the issue there was that the casino had15·

·some degradation in the hoist cables on the elevator.16·

·And what happened was that the elevator company with whom17·

·they had a servicing contract said, "No, that's your18·

·fault because you allowed them to get wet," and the19·

·casino said, "No, you need to come in pursuant to our20·

·service agreement and replace these hoist cables."··And21·

·the defendant said, "No, we don't."22·

· · · · · ·          And so then the casino went out and paid some23·

·other elevator company to come in and replace the hoist24·
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·cables, and then the second elevator company who came in·1·

·disposed of the hoist cables.··So they weren't able to·2·

·determine if it was rust or it was some other type of·3·

·degradation that was causing the problem, and they·4·

·couldn't certainly do any testing on it because the·5·

·second elevator company, who was the agent of the hotel,·6·

·disposed of the cables, and they came in and testified,·7·

·"It's just what we do.··We go there, we fix it, and we·8·

·throw the other stuff in the garbage unless they want us·9·

·to keep it."10·

· · · · · ·          So I'm familiar with the issues that are11·

·presented.··The Nevada Supreme Court has addressed those12·

·issues, and I believe that district courts need to13·

·approach case-concluding sanctions with great caution,14·

·and the Nevada Supreme Court certainly confirms that.15·

· · · · · ·          If I were to grant the motion filed by Versa,16·

·it would be a case-concluding sanction.··There are no17·

·other outstanding claims between Versa and MDB; is that18·

·correct?19·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That is correct.20·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··It just ends the -- it puts a21·

·period at the end of the entire process.22·

· · · · · ·          In Stubli, S-t-u-b-l-i, vs. Big D International23·

·Trucks, Incorporated, 107 Nev. 309 at page 312,24·
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·810 P.2d 785, page 787, a 1991 case, and Kelly·1·

·Broadcasting vs. Sovereign Broadcasting, 96 Nev. 188 at·2·

·page 192, 606 P.2d 1089 at page 1092, a 1980 case, the·3·

·Nevada Supreme Court affirms what it says all of the·4·

·time, and that is, discovery sanctions are within the·5·

·discretion of the trial court.··However, the Supreme·6·

·Court has also said that, as I mentioned a moment ago,·7·

·that we should be very cautious as we approach·8·

·case-concluding sanctions.·9·

· · · · · ·          The Supreme Court says in GNLV Corporation vs.10·

·Service Control Corporation, 111 Nev. 866 at 870,11·

·900 P.2d 323 at page 326, a 1995 case:12·

· · · · · ·          "The dismissal of a case based upon a discovery13·

·abuse such as the destruction or loss of evidence" -- and14·

·then there's an internal quote -- "'should be used only15·

·in extreme situations.··If less drastic sanctions are16·

·available, they should be utilized.'"··And that's the end17·

·of the internal quotation.18·

· · · · · ·          The internal quotation is from Nevada Power vs.19·

·Flower Illinois, 108 Nev. 638 at page 645, 837 P.2d 135420·

·at page 1359, a 1992 case.21·

· · · · · ·          And then in Young vs. Ribeiro -- let me find22·

·the citation for it -- Young vs. Johnny Ribeiro Building,23·

·Incorporated, 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777, a 1990 case, the24·
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·Nevada Supreme Court places a special burden on district·1·

·courts.··It's not a special burden.··They just expect us·2·

·to do our jobs.·3·

· · · · · ·          At page 93 of the Nevada Reporter, the Nevada·4·

·Supreme Court says:·5·

· · · · · ·          "We will further require that every order of·6·

·dismissal with prejudice as a discovery sanction be·7·

·supported by an express, careful, and preferably written·8·

·explanation of the Court's analysis of the pertinent·9·

·factors," those being the eight factors that we've10·

·discussed today.11·

· · · · · ·          I would like to go back and look at a couple of12·

·the cases that I have reviewed in the past regarding13·

·spoliation of evidence and the loss or destruction of14·

·that evidence, specifically Fire Insurance Exchange vs.15·

·Zenith Radio Corporation, 103 Nev. 648 at page 651,16·

·747 P.2d 911 at page 914, a 1987 case, the Young vs.17·

·Ribeiro case, and the GNLV Corporation vs. Services18·

·Control Corporation.··I think that those will inform my19·

·decision on what to do, whether or not to grant the20·

·motion.··I will give the parties a preliminary21·

·understanding of what my thought process is.22·

· · · · · ·          There will be a sanction for the loss of the23·

·evidence.··I don't know what the sanction will be at this24·
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·point.··If it will be a granting of the motion, then I do·1·

·need to go through the careful and written analysis that·2·

·is required by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Young·3·

·vs. Ribeiro.··If it is some lesser sanction, then I don't·4·

·believe that you need to go through that full analysis·5·

·because the Court simply is concluding that·6·

·case-concluding sanctions aren't necessary.·7·

· · · · · ·          But I'll also have to think about the argument·8·

·that Mr. Aicklen has made, and that is, regardless of·9·

·what you do, it's a case-concluding sanction anyway.··I'm10·

·not sure about that, though it's an interesting argument11·

·and I will have to give it some thought, but I want the12·

·parties both to be aware that there will be some sanction13·

·as a result of the loss of this information -- excuse14·

·me -- the loss of this evidence.15·

· · · · · ·          The Court in Ribeiro made a very important16·

·observation, and it applies to this case.··Strike that.17·

·It's in the Fire Insurance Exchange vs. Zenith Radio18·

·Corporation case, a 1997 case.19·

· · · · · ·          The Nevada Supreme Court states at page 651 of20·

·the Nevada Reporter and at page 914 of the Pacific21·

·Reporter:22·

· · · · · ·          "Even where an action has not been commenced23·

·and there is only a potential for litigation, the24·
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·litigant is under a duty to preserve the evidence which·1·

·it knows or reasonably should know is relevant to the·2·

·action."·3·

· · · · · ·          And so the fact that this came later or that·4·

·there was a complaint on file immediately is not going to·5·

·be dispositive of the issue, nor is the fact maybe that·6·

·the cables and the electronics were not replaced·7·

·immediately.··I don't know that MDB had an obligation to·8·

·go and warehouse the entirety of the truck.··That strikes·9·

·me as unreasonable.··I don't know that they had an10·

·obligation to rip out all of the electronics of the11·

·solenoids right when the accident occurred to preserve12·

·them intact.··That may or may not be unreasonable, but13·

·certainly it is reasonable to assume that once these14·

·items are being replaced, at a minimum they'll be15·

·retained in order to be looked at or, alternatively, some16·

·notice would be provided by MDB to Versa letting them17·

·know this truck, which is the subject of litigation or18·

·the anticipated subject of litigation, is going to be19·

·subject to maintenance, "Do you want us to preserve these20·

·items?"21·

· · · · · ·          If memory serves me correctly from the case22·

·that I had, that argument was raised by the hotel, the23·

·argument being, "Well, we denied that this was part of24·
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·our service agreement, and you said you were going to get·1·

·somebody else to do it.··You never told us to maintain·2·

·the evidence."·3·

· · · · · ·          And my recollection of the research I did·4·

·regarding that issue was there is no affirmative duty on,·5·

·in this case, MDB's part to tell Versa, "We're going to·6·

·dispose of this stuff.··Do you want to us retain it?"·7·

·They just have an obligation to retain it.·8·

· · · · · ·          So at a minimum the Court will be determining·9·

·that some sanction is required.··I don't know if it will10·

·be the adverse inference instruction or one of the other11·

·potential sanctions contemplated by Nevada Rule of Civil12·

·Procedure 37 or if it will be the striking of the13·

·cross-claim in its totality.··We'll just have to wait and14·

·see, but I'll take this one motion under advisement and15·

·do some more legal research and then write an appropriate16·

·order based on the arguments and the motion practice.17·

· · · · · ·          The final motion for the Court's consideration18·

·today has already been briefly touched on, and that is19·

·the August 3, 2017, file-stamped Defendant/20·

·Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant Versa Products Company,21·

·Incorporated's Objection to the Discovery Commissioner's22·

·Recommendation For Order dated July 27th of 2017.··The23·

·Court has received and reviewed that document.24·
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· · · · · ·          Further, the Court has received and reviewed·1·

·the August 7, 2017, file-stamped MDB Trucking, LLC's·2·

·Response to Defendant/ Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant·3·

·Versa Products Company, Incorporated's Objection to·4·

·Discovery Commissioner Recommendation For Order dated·5·

·July 27th of 2017.·6·

· · · · · ·          The Court entered an order on August 9th of·7·

·2017 informing the parties that we would set this for·8·

·hearing today.··The matter wasn't formally submitted for·9·

·the Court's consideration.··If I remember correctly, I10·

·did indicate that Versa could file a reply if you wanted11·

·to, but I don't have the reply.12·

· · · · · ·          Did you file a reply?13·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Let me take a look, Your Honor.14·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Oh, I did receive a reply.··I just15·

·didn't get to the bottom.16·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Mine are out of order.··I have17·

·the objection, and I think the opp. and reply are in18·

·front.19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No.··And I've got the reply.··It20·

·was just stuck on here.··It's file-stamped August 11th of21·

·2017, and it is titled the Defendant/Cross-Claimant/22·

·Cross-Defendant Versa Products Company, Incorporated's23·

·Reply in Support of the Objection to Discovery24·
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·Commissioner's Recommendation dated July 27th of 2017.·1·

· · · · · ·          So I entered the order.··You still have the·2·

·opportunity to file the reply, and you did after the·3·

·order was entered, and then I reviewed it.·4·

· · · · · ·          Mr. Aicklen, go ahead.·5·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Thank you, Your Honor.·6·

· · · · · ·          As you said, we briefly touched on this.··What·7·

·the request seeks is the actual specifications and·8·

·clearances and tolerances and so forth which have·9·

·absolutely nothing to do with the electrical system.10·

·You're talking about mechanical tolerances, how closely11·

·do things fit, how are they cut, so forth.··They have12·

·absolutely nothing to do with their theory of the case,13·

·which is that it was an electrical defect, but more14·

·importantly than that, this information has never been15·

·given up unredacted.16·

· · · · · ·          This would literally -- Versa is the17·

·best-selling valve, and this information would allow18·

·reverse engineering, and that's what the Trade Secret19·

·Protection Act is meant to avoid.20·

· · · · · ·          We have the affidavit -- we filed the affidavit21·

·of the engineer from Versa Valve, who states that if we22·

·give up these drawings, which we never have, somebody can23·

·reverse engineer them because -- and in their opposition24·
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·they say, well, you can tear it down and reverse engineer·1·

·it.··That's not true because you're not going to have the·2·

·same -- whenever anything is manmade, it is not exactly·3·

·to what the specifications are.··There's always·4·

·differences because men are not perfect and machines are·5·

·not perfect, but if you put the tolerances and·6·

·measurements and the specs out and they are -- they are·7·

·obtained by other people, then it can be reverse·8·

·engineered en masse, and that would harm my client.·9·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Let me interrupt you, then.10·

· · · · · ·          Here's the concern I have.··Commissioner Ayres11·

·noted this in his Recommendation For Order.12·

· · · · · ·          There is a confidentiality agreement in place.13·

·Your response to that earlier today was, there's so many14·

·holes in that that it's not going to cover what our15·

·concerns are.16·

· · · · · ·          These issues are discussed -- and by "these17·

·issues" I mean trade secrets -- are discussed all the18·

·time in civil litigation, and confidentiality agreements19·

·are put in place.··I'm not minimizing your client's20·

·concerns in the least that if this information were to21·

·fall into the wrong hands, the hands of either a22·

·competitor or some manufacturer outside of the23·

·jurisdiction of the United States, that could be very24·
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·detrimental to Versa's business.··I get that, but I still·1·

·don't see why the confidentiality agreement that's in·2·

·place now between just MDB and Versa doesn't cover this·3·

·issue.·4·

· · · · · ·          You know, I'm thinking the secret formula for·5·

·Coca-Cola, the 11 herbs and spices from Kentucky Fried·6·

·Chicken, all of this very proprietary information that is·7·

·hidden away somewhere deep inside a vault.··If it became·8·

·an issue in a case -- the Court doesn't say you don't·9·

·have to provide it if it's a legitimate issue.··Your10·

·argument just is it has nothing to do with the outcome of11·

·this case, and therefore we don't have to provide it?12·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No, no.··Our argument is we have13·

·provided the schematics.··Their theory is that there was14·

·a failure of a relay, which is an electronic device, not15·

·that the tolerances weren't proper or the measurements16·

·were wrong in this device or so forth.17·

· · · · · ·          So what they're trying to get -- and it's18·

·political, it absolutely is political -- pressing this19·

·point is trying to get my client to knuckle under because20·

·they've never turned it over because they know it could21·

·be the death knell of that line of business.22·

· · · · · ·          So he was talking about other motives and23·

·filing things and so forth at different times.··What is24·
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·the relevance of measurements and micrometers and so·1·

·forth of production when balanced against a company·2·

·losing a very proprietary and very trade secret piece of·3·

·information?·4·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Again, it circles back to the same·5·

·point.··How do we know that they're losing it?··It's·6·

·presupposing that there will be a breach in the·7·

·confidentiality agreement.·8·

· · · · · ·          So you're saying, "We're going to lose this."·9·

·In essence, the argument you're making is that somehow10·

·it's going to become public knowledge, and therefore it11·

·can lead to the loss of business or the destruction of12·

·Versa's superiority --13·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··-- in the marketplace.14·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Right.··But that's an assumption.15·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I've been doing this 27 years,16·

·Your Honor.··I've seen it happen a lot, and I've seen it17·

·break companies, too.··And I'm sure you've seen it18·

·happen, too.19·

· · · · · ·          There are always orders at the end -- when20·

·there are confidentiality agreements, there's orders that21·

·you have to destroy this or you have to provide it back22·

·to us, and then I see it especially in elevator cases --23·

·you were mentioning elevator cases -- I see the specs for24·
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·KONE and Thyssenkrupp and Otis Elevators coming back and·1·

·they're marked "Confidential" on the bottom and the date·2·

·and time.··I know that Otis Elevator took an expert to --·3·

·for a contempt of court order in federal court for·4·

·turning over information like this.·5·

· · · · · ·          What I'm saying is that the potential breach of·6·

·this information could be fatal to my client's business,·7·

·so why, if their theory -- why, if their theory is·8·

·electronic based, do they need to know how to build the·9·

·exact tolerances of this device?··If their theory is that10·

·it's Peter Paul's relay that's bad --11·

· · · · · ·          Remember, all the experts have looked at the12·

·actual mechanics of this electromechanical valve.··If13·

·their theory is that it's the electronics that are bad,14·

·why do they need to know the specs and the measurements?15·

·And it is political, and it's meant as a club.16·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Sometimes we wield clubs.··I'm not17·

·suggesting that's what's occurring in this case, but if18·

·there is some relevance -- and that's what the threshold19·

·at the discovery level is, is it relevant.··If there's20·

·some relevancy that can be articulated, then I believe21·

·that Commissioner Ayres' order would stand.22·

· · · · · ·          Now, I do have a concern for Versa's express23·

·desire to maintain its premier place in the marketplace24·
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·and to maintain its work product.··Is there a way that·1·

·the parties can fashion something short of photocopying·2·

·and dissemination that would accomplish the same goal?·3·

·That's the first thing I was thinking of.·4·

· · · · · ·          And the second thing I was thinking of is your·5·

·express concern about the holes that are present in the·6·

·confidentiality agreement that the parties provided to·7·

·the Court and that the Court entered.··Are there ways·8·

·that you can shore up the holes?··That's the second·9·

·question.10·

· · · · · ·          So the first one is -- I guess what I'm11·

·thinking, Mr. Aicken, is, can you have a circumstance12·

·where rather than -- I say "Aicken" -- I apologize,13·

·Mr. Aicklen --14·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That's okay.15·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No, it's not.··I apologize.16·

· · · · · ·          Can you have a circumstance where rather than17·

·we photocopy these things and we stamp them18·

·"Confidential" all over the place and provide them to19·

·you, we allow your expert to come and look at them -- not20·

·to photograph them, not to do anything specific to copy21·

·them -- but you're allowed to view them.··That might22·

·solve the problem.23·

· · · · · ·          It's not that they're going to be out there in24·
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·the world, so to speak, in an unredacted form.··It would·1·

·just give the expert the opportunity to review the·2·

·information, and if he needs to review it again,·3·

·obviously we can fashion an order that allows the expert·4·

·to come in and see that information again, but it's not·5·

·something that has been memorialized and disseminated,·6·

·not sitting in somebody's file somewhere to be snatched·7·

·up.·8·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That seems like a very prudent·9·

·compromise between the two, and I appreciate it.··And10·

·what -- if I could propose something?··Perhaps11·

·Mr. Wieczorek and I could talk about it and come back to12·

·the Court in, like, seven days and then ask for a ruling?13·

·Is that acceptable?14·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, here's the problem15·

·I have.··I'm 60 days from trial.··I'm waiting on these16·

·documents.··My experts are in Phoenix.··I suppose the17·

·suggestion is they can get on a plane and fly to New18·

·Jersey and look at these documents in a conference room19·

·after their phones are taken away from them and then do20·

·with it what they will.21·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··No, that wouldn't be the22·

·compromise.··The compromise is --23·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··We'd have to take them to24·
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·Phoenix.·1·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··-- we're reaching for them, and by·2·

·"we," I mean the system is reaching to accommodate Versa,·3·

·and so Versa bears the cost of that.··They come to your·4·

·expert.··Obviously you're present and Mr. Aicklen is·5·

·present, but you set up a process where the information·6·

·is brought to your expert, your expert is allowed to view·7·

·it, he's allowed to obviously make notes.·8·

· · · · · ·          We can't expect that the expert has a·9·

·photographic memory, but the expert can view the10·

·information, have the time that he or she needs to view11·

·it in a reasonable -- it's not five minutes, here's 5,00012·

·pages, figure out what you need, go.13·

· · · · · ·          So we would set up a process.··I'd allow the14·

·two of you to set up a process and only get involved if15·

·necessary where your clients aren't bearing any of the16·

·cost and it is done in a way that accommodates your17·

·client's and your experts' interests.··That's my thought.18·

·Not we're going to do it in Las Vegas because that's19·

·where you guys are or we're going to do it here in the20·

·discovery commissioner's office in Reno so everybody's21·

·flying all over the place, only I'm not inconvenienced.22·

· · · · · ·          We'll go to Phoenix if that's where your guy23·

·is, take care of it in Phoenix.24·
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· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Both of their experts are in·1·

·Phoenix, although I don't know -- Bausch said in his depo·2·

·that he deferred all of electrical issues to Anderson.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··And it would happen within seven·4·

·days of today's date.·5·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Believe me, I appreciate this.·6·

·The problem I have is I haven't vetted this with my·7·

·experts.··Let's say they see this stuff.··Let's say they·8·

·find something in there very important.··Let's say they·9·

·need to consult with some colleagues about how it impacts10·

·the issues of this case.··Let's say they need to expose11·

·some of this information that Versa finds confidential to12·

·assist my representation of the client.13·

· · · · · ·          There are a lot of unknowns in this process,14·

·and I can only represent to you, Your Honor -- and15·

·Mr. Aicklen has been around a long time, I've been a16·

·lawyer for 35 years -- I've never been on the downside of17·

·a protective order and the onus is on me.18·

· · · · · ·          If my secretary leaks this to CNN, I'm the one19·

·who is going to hear about it, so I take these things20·

·very seriously.··I think we're introducing hoops into an21·

·equation that really are not necessary because I can22·

·vouch for taking control of this and keeping a lid on it.23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Well, I can appreciate that,24·
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·Mr. Wieczorek.··The counter argument to that is this:··I·1·

·was watching a program on CNN recently -- I watch CNN and·2·

·Fox, I watch everything -- but there was this very·3·

·interesting program on CNN about cyber espionage and·4·

·about corporate espionage and about entities outside of·5·

·the United States and the efforts that they will take to·6·

·access the digital records of corporations inside the·7·

·United States in order to get their trade secrets.··And·8·

·we don't have to go very far.··HBO has been recently the·9·

·subject of a gigantic hack where terabytes of information10·

·were stolen, and I believe that was domestic, if memory11·

·serves me correctly, but regardless, huge amounts of12·

·information worth hundreds of millions of dollars was13·

·stolen from HBO.14·

· · · · · ·          I'm assuming you have a very sophisticated IT15·

·presence, but there's just no way to guarantee that kind16·

·of stuff.··And so I get the argument that the fewer17·

·people out there that they have to go poking around for18·

·to find, the better.19·

· · · · · ·          So let's say we give it to you, and you're20·

·right, I have no doubt at all, Mr. Wieczorek, that you21·

·would do everything humanly possible to maintain the22·

·confidentiality of that information, to make sure that it23·

·was not disseminated to anyone, but the minute it is24·
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·digitally produced, it's easily accessible.··The minute·1·

·it's stored somewhere -- I guess if it's in a file·2·

·cabinet, at least it's theoretically harder to get to·3·

·these days than if it's digitally stored, but it's still·4·

·there.··So I get the concern, and I'm not going to -- I·5·

·don't want to set up something where I'm saying, well,·6·

·we're not going to do this because theoretically·7·

·something might happen.·8·

· · · · · ·          You're right.··Maybe your experts look at it·9·

·and say, "Yes, we need more information.··We need to take10·

·some additional steps.··We need to take some additional11·

·time or consult other people."··That will require you or12·

·the parties to contact me, and I'll take whatever13·

·additional action needs to be taken, and if it's14·

·eventually just enforcing Commissioner Ayres'15·

·recommendation for an order, then that's what it will be,16·

·but I'm trying to fashion something that takes into17·

·consideration both sides' concerns:··Your desire to18·

·expeditiously have the information so you can continue to19·

·prepare for trial and Versa's legitimate interest in20·

·making sure that their trade secrets are not exposed21·

·unnecessarily.22·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, that's very fair,23·

·Your Honor.··I'm willing to work with Mr. Aicklen.··I'm24·
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·not about busy work.··My experts may look at this stuff·1·

·and say, "Who cares?"··And they may look at it and say,·2·

·"Wow, this changes things."··So I do not know, but to the·3·

·extent that it assuages Mr. Aicklen's client's concerns·4·

·that they fly down to Phoenix and we all look at it in·5·

·someone's office, I guess I can persuade Mr. Anderson to·6·

·do that.·7·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Any objection to that as a·8·

·preliminary step, Mr. Aicklen?·9·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Not from me, but I would have to10·

·talk to the client, but to me it sounds reasonable.11·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··You can tell the client the12·

·alternative at this point in time is --13·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Turn over copies, right.14·

·Understood.15·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··-- Commissioner Ayres' order is16·

·confirmed.17·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Within seven days we will take a18·

·set of the plans unredacted -- that were produced19·

·redacted -- unredacted, allow --20·

· · · · · ·          Is it just Anderson or Bausch or both?21·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··I have to check with them.··I22·

·don't know.23·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··We've got two experts, so allow24·
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·their two experts to view and take notes but not to·1·

·photograph and/or copy.··Versa will take those to Phoenix·2·

·to them.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Correct.·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Okay.··I think that sounds·5·

·reasonable and I will recommend that my client follow it.·6·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··And if there is some issue·7·

·regarding that, then please contact my office immediately·8·

·and I'll take further action regarding Commissioner·9·

·Ayres' order, but hopefully that will resolve the10·

·situation and get the information to MDB that they need11·

·to make their final trial preparations and also at the12·

·same time protect the interests that are being expressed13·

·by Versa.14·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Thank you.15·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Mr. Aicklen, can you prepare an16·

·order consistent with that conclusion regarding the17·

·discovery issue?18·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Yes, sir.19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Okay, counsel.··It is 4:15.20·

·Hopefully, your flights home are --21·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I've still got two more days,22·

·Your Honor.23·

· · · · · ·          Your Honor, may I ask a housekeeping matter?24·
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· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Regarding this case or just in·1·

·general?·2·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··This case.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Yes.·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··Do you know how long it will take·5·

·you to take a look at the issue of motion to strike·6·

·because that may have an effect on other things?·7·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··It will probably be -- I'm just·8·

·trying to think of what my week is like next week.··I·9·

·remember looking at it and it's a nightmare.··I know that10·

·we've got a holiday next week as well.11·

· · · · · ·          My week next week is Monday's a day off;12·

·Tuesday, I have numerous matters set; Wednesday, I've got13·

·a writ hearing on a murder case from 2012; I've got my14·

·criminal calendar Thursday plus a special-set sentencing15·

·and then two more things in the afternoon; and then16·

·Friday I have four things on calendar, including I'm17·

·marrying a couple of people.18·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··You are marrying two people?19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Yes.··I presume it's two people.20·

·Things have changed, but not that much.21·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I was teasing you because you22·

·said you're marrying two people.23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I'm performing a wedding for a very24·
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·nice couple, so I'm doing that in the afternoon on·1·

·Friday.·2·

· · · · · ·          Let me just look at what the following week·3·

·looks like so I can get a better idea.·4·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··So you think probably at least·5·

·two weeks?·6·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I'm thinking about two weeks.·7·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I just wondered.··And I would·8·

·assume that you will be preparing that order and you will·9·

·want me to do drafts of the other three?10·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Correct.··If I grant the11·

·case-concluding sanction order, then it will be an order12·

·consistent with the analysis required pursuant to Young13·

·vs. Johnny Ribeiro.··If not, it will be much shorter and14·

·just describe what the sanction is, but as I said, there15·

·will be -- you should anticipate there will be some16·

·sanction.··I just don't know what it is yet.17·

· · · · · ·          Anything else on behalf of Versa?18·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··No, sir.19·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··On behalf of MDB?20·

· · · · · ·          MR. WIECZOREK:··Your Honor, just inquiry on21·

·your consideration of the motion to strike under the22·

·Ribeiro factors, and I understand that your intention is23·

·to actually grant the case-terminating sanction.24·
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· · · · · ·          My read of the case law says that in addition·1·

·to analyzing the factors, it may be necessary to hold an·2·

·evidentiary hearing to make sure that the representations·3·

·made in court today are, in fact, accurate.··I don't know·4·

·if that's obligatory or optional to Your Honor, but·5·

·that's how I've experienced these cases in the past.··If·6·

·you're going to dismiss -- do a death knell --·7·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··I've had that come up before, but·8·

·that is -- that prove-up hearing is -- if the·9·

·case-concluding sanctions are in favor of the plaintiff,10·

·then you have to have a prove-up hearing to determine11·

·what the actual damages are.12·

· · · · · ·          Here, if the case-concluding sanction is in13·

·favor of Versa, the cross-defendant, I'm not quite sure14·

·because there's -- there's no --15·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··I believe the case law is that16·

·there does not have to be a hearing.··If it's clear upon17·

·the evidence, there does not have to be an evidentiary18·

·hearing, and all the evidence that we've submitted is the19·

·deposition testimony of MDB and their discovery20·

·responses, so that's not -- I don't think that counsel is21·

·going to say that's an issue.··That's his own client's22·

·testimony and documents.23·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Well, I'll make sure that it's24·
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·correct.··How about that?··I'll do my best to make sure·1·

·that it's correct.·2·

· · · · · ·          MR. AICKLEN:··That's all I ask.·3·

· · · · · ·          THE COURT:··Thank you.··Court's in recess.·4·

· · · · · ·          (Proceedings concluded.)·5·

··6·

··7·

··8·

··9·

·10·

·11·

·12·

·13·

·14·

·15·

·16·

·17·
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·23·
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·STATE OF NEVADA··)·1·
· · · · · · · · ··                 )··ss.· ·
·COUNTY OF WASHOE )·2·
·· ·
··3·
·· ·
· · · · · ··           I, PEGGY B. HOOGS, Certified Court Reporter in·4·
·· ·
·and for the State of Nevada, do hereby certify:·5·
·· ·
· · · · · ··           That the foregoing proceedings were taken by·6·
·· ·
·me at the time and place therein set forth; that the·7·
·· ·
·proceedings were recorded stenographically by me and·8·
·· ·
·thereafter transcribed via computer under my supervision;·9·
·· ·
·that the foregoing is a full, true and correct10·
·· ·
·transcription of the proceedings to the best of my11·
·· ·
·knowledge, skill and ability.12·
·· ·
· · · · · ··           I further certify that I am not a relative nor13·
·· ·
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·20·
·· ·
· · · · · · · · · ··                   /s/ Peggy B. Hoogs21·
· · · · · · · ·              _____________________________· ·
· · · · · · · ·              Peggy B. Hoogs, CCR #160, RDR22·
·· ·
·23·
·· ·
·24·

AA001557


	Insert from: "#26 Transcript of Proceedings Hearing on Motions  8-29-17.pdf"
	Condensed
	Word Index
	Index
	A
	ability(6)
	able(8)
	absence(1)
	absolutely(6)
	abuse(2)
	abuses(1)
	abusive(2)
	AC(1)
	accept(1)
	acceptable(1)
	accepted(1)
	access(1)
	accessible(1)
	accident(1)
	accidents(1)
	accommodate(3)
	accommodates(1)
	accomplish(1)
	accrues(1)
	accurate(1)
	acknowledge(1)
	acknowledged(1)
	acknowledging(1)
	act(2)
	acted(1)
	action(20)
	actions(2)
	activate(4)
	activated(2)
	activation(3)
	activations(1)
	actual(8)
	actuated(1)
	add(14)
	added(1)
	adding(1)
	Addison(5)
	Addison's(1)
	addition(4)
	additional(15)
	Additionally(1)
	address(8)
	addressed(5)
	addresses(1)
	addressing(2)
	admission(1)
	adopted(1)
	Adv(1)
	advance(2)
	adverse(4)
	adversely(1)
	advise(1)
	advisement(1)
	advisory(1)
	affidavit(2)
	affirmative(1)
	affirms(1)
	afternoon(8)
	agent(1)
	aggressive(1)
	ago(3)
	agree(2)
	agreed(2)
	agreed-upon(1)
	agreeing(1)
	agreement(6)
	agreements(3)
	agrees(1)
	ahead(9)
	Aicken(2)
	Aicklen(107)
	Aicklen's(2)
	aid(1)
	al(2)
	Alabama(1)
	allege(2)
	allegedly(1)
	alley(1)
	allow(8)
	allowed(6)
	allowing(5)
	allows(1)
	alongside(1)
	altered(1)
	alternative(6)
	alternatively(2)
	ambulances(1)
	amend(30)
	amendment(20)
	amount(4)
	amounts(2)
	analogy(3)
	analysis(21)
	analyze(1)
	analyzing(1)
	and/or(2)
	Anderson(9)
	Anderson's(1)
	anecdotally(1)
	Angeles(1)
	angry(1)
	answer(4)
	ANTHONY(1)
	anticipate(2)
	anticipated(1)
	antithetical(1)
	anybody(1)
	anymore(1)
	anyone's(1)
	anyway(4)
	apologize(12)
	apparent(2)
	apparently(4)
	appeal(2)
	Appeals(4)
	appear(2)
	APPEARANCES(1)
	appended(1)
	applies(1)
	apply(1)
	appointed(1)
	appreciate(9)
	apprehend(1)
	approach(3)
	approaching(1)
	appropriate(3)
	appropriately(1)
	approximately(5)
	April(2)
	arguable(1)
	arguably(2)
	argue(5)
	argued(4)
	argues(1)
	arguing(4)
	argument(28)
	arguments(4)
	arrows(1)
	articles(1)
	articulated(2)
	artist(1)
	artistic(1)
	ascribe(1)
	aside(1)
	asked(7)
	asking(3)
	assault(1)
	assert(1)
	asserting(1)
	assessing(1)
	assist(1)
	assisted(1)
	assuages(1)
	assume(8)
	assuming(7)
	assumption(1)
	at-issue(1)
	attached(1)
	attempt(2)
	attempting(3)
	attention(2)
	attorney(6)
	attorneys(4)
	audience(1)
	August(10)
	availability(3)
	available(4)
	Avenue(1)
	average(2)
	avoid(3)
	aware(9)
	Ayres(6)

	B
	back(42)
	background(3)
	backwards(1)
	bad(5)
	Baharem(1)
	Bakelite(4)
	balanced(1)
	balancing(1)
	ball(2)
	Bank(1)
	based(16)
	basic(1)
	basically(2)
	basis(4)
	Bausch(4)
	bearing(1)
	bears(2)
	beginning(2)
	behalf(8)
	believe(18)
	believes(2)
	bench(1)
	beneficial(1)
	benefit(4)
	Bermuda(1)
	best(4)
	best-selling(2)
	better(7)
	beyond(4)
	Bick(4)
	big(5)
	binder(1)
	bit(2)
	blame(1)
	blithely(2)
	boring(1)
	borne(1)
	bottom(6)
	Boulevard(1)
	bowled(1)
	bowling(6)
	box(1)
	brand(4)
	breach(2)
	break(1)
	breaks(1)
	brick(1)
	brief(2)
	briefed(2)
	briefing(1)
	briefly(3)
	bring(7)
	bringing(4)
	BRISBOIS(1)
	brittle(1)
	Broadcasting(2)
	broken(1)
	brought(6)
	BRUCE(1)
	bucks(1)
	build(2)
	Building(1)
	bunch(1)
	burden(6)
	business(9)
	busted(1)
	busy(2)
	button(1)
	buy(1)
	buys(1)

	C
	cab(1)
	cabinet(1)
	cable(4)
	cables(7)
	calendar(5)
	California(1)
	call(2)
	called(2)
	calling(1)
	Canal(1)
	car(1)
	care(2)
	careful(2)
	carelessness(1)
	cares(1)
	CAROL(1)
	carry(1)
	carved(1)
	case(180)
	case-concluding(8)
	case-terminating(1)
	cases(19)
	casino(4)
	cat(1)
	caught(1)
	cause(38)
	caused(5)
	causes(1)
	causing(1)
	caution(1)
	cautious(1)
	cavalier(1)
	CCR(3)
	center(1)
	certain(2)
	certainly(17)
	certainty(1)
	certificate(1)
	certification(1)
	certified(2)
	certify(2)
	chair(1)
	chalkboard(3)
	challenge(1)
	change(12)
	changed(4)
	changes(2)
	charged(1)
	chase(1)
	chasing(1)
	check(4)
	Cheshire(1)
	Chicken(1)
	chief(1)
	choice(2)
	choose(1)
	chose(4)
	chronology(1)
	chuck(1)
	chunk(1)
	circles(1)
	circuit(5)
	circuits(1)
	circumstance(3)
	circumstances(6)
	citation(1)
	citations(1)
	cited(2)
	citing(8)
	civ(1)
	civil(14)
	claim(11)
	claims(2)
	CLARK(1)
	clear(5)
	clearances(1)
	cleared(1)
	clearly(1)
	Clerk(2)
	clicking(1)
	client(18)
	client's(6)
	clients(1)
	clock(2)
	close(2)
	closely(2)
	closer(1)
	club(1)
	clubs(1)
	CMO(1)
	CNN(4)
	co-defendant(1)
	Coca-Cola(1)
	CODE(1)
	coextensive(1)
	coil(1)
	COLE(1)
	colleague(1)
	colleagues(2)
	collision(1)
	collisions(1)
	colloquial(1)
	Columbia(1)
	come(16)
	comes(2)
	coming(4)
	commence(1)
	commenced(1)
	comments(1)
	commission(1)
	commissioner(8)
	commissioner's(5)
	committed(1)
	companies(3)
	company(23)
	compatible(1)
	compel(1)
	compelling(1)
	competent(1)
	competing(2)
	competitor(1)
	complaint(8)
	complete(1)
	completed(1)
	completely(5)
	complex(2)
	compliance(5)
	complied(1)
	comply(1)
	complying(1)
	component(7)
	components(16)
	compromise(3)
	computer(3)
	Conceding(1)
	concern(6)
	concerned(1)
	concerns(5)
	conclude(1)
	concluded(1)
	concluding(1)
	conclusion(1)
	conclusions(2)
	conditions(4)
	conduct(10)
	conducted(1)
	conducting(1)
	conference(4)
	confidential(3)
	confidentiality(11)
	confirmed(1)
	confirms(1)
	conflict(1)
	confronting(1)
	connect(1)
	connected(2)
	Connecticut(1)
	connecting(1)
	connection(3)
	connections(1)
	connector(9)
	connectors(7)
	connects(2)
	conscious(1)
	consented(1)
	consider(6)
	considerably(1)
	consideration(16)
	considerations(1)
	considered(7)
	considering(3)
	considers(1)
	consistent(2)
	consolidated(2)
	constitutes(1)
	construe(1)
	consult(2)
	contact(2)
	contacts(1)
	contemplated(4)
	contemplates(1)
	contempt(2)
	contend(1)
	continuance(18)
	continue(17)
	continued(2)
	continuing(3)
	contract(1)
	contradicts(1)
	contrast(1)
	contribution(7)
	control(6)
	controls(5)
	conundrum(1)
	conversation(4)
	convicted(2)
	copies(1)
	copy(2)
	copyright(1)
	cord(2)
	corporate(2)
	corporation(8)
	corporations(1)
	correct(15)
	correctly(6)
	cosmetic(1)
	cost(3)
	costs(1)
	counsel(17)
	count(1)
	counter(1)
	counterclaim(1)
	counterfeited(1)
	counterweight(1)
	counting(1)
	country(1)
	County(3)
	couple(8)
	couplings(1)
	course(4)
	court(230)
	court's(22)
	courts(4)
	cover(2)
	crafted(1)
	crazy(1)
	creating(1)
	criminal(4)
	critical(3)
	cross(1)
	cross-claim(10)
	cross-claimant(2)
	Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant(2)
	cross-claims(1)
	cross-complaint(1)
	cross-defendant(8)
	cross-exam(1)
	cross-examination(1)
	cross-party(1)
	CRR(1)
	crucial(6)
	CSR(1)
	cure(4)
	current(1)
	currently(5)
	curve(2)
	cut(2)
	cutoff(5)
	cutting(2)
	CV15-02349(2)
	cyber(1)

	D
	Dallas(1)
	damage(1)
	damaged(1)
	damages(4)
	damaging(1)
	dangerous(1)
	DANIEL(1)
	date(17)
	dated(4)
	dates(5)
	day(8)
	days(25)
	DC(2)
	DCR's(1)
	DCRR(1)
	deadline(19)
	deadlines(6)
	deal(3)
	dealing(2)
	death(6)
	December(1)
	decide(1)
	deciding(1)
	decision(4)
	decisive(1)
	declare(1)
	declared(1)
	deep(3)
	defect(13)
	defective(11)
	defend(5)
	defendant(12)
	Defendant/(2)
	Defendant/Cross-Claimant/(3)
	Defendant/Cross-Claimant/Cross-Defendant(5)
	defendants(3)
	defense(10)
	defenses(3)
	defer(1)
	deferred(1)
	defined(1)
	definition(1)
	definitive(1)
	degradation(2)
	degree(2)
	delay(5)
	delayed(1)
	demand(1)
	demonstrated(3)
	denial(1)
	denied(3)
	denies(1)
	deny(4)
	denying(2)
	department(1)
	depending(1)
	depo(1)
	depos(1)
	deposing(1)
	deposition(15)
	depositions(6)
	deprived(1)
	Dept(1)
	Des(1)
	describe(1)
	described(1)
	designated(1)
	desire(2)
	despite(1)
	destroy(1)
	destroyed(1)
	destroying(1)
	destruction(3)
	deter(1)
	determine(5)
	determining(2)
	detrimental(1)
	developed(1)
	device(5)
	diagrams(1)
	dialogue(1)
	diary(1)
	dictates(1)
	differences(1)
	different(14)
	difficult(3)
	difficulty(2)
	digital(2)
	digitally(2)
	dilatory(1)
	diligence(8)
	diligent(3)
	directed(7)
	directly(3)
	disagreeing(1)
	disclose(2)
	disclosed(1)
	disclosure(1)
	disclosures(3)
	discount(1)
	discovery(51)
	discrete(2)
	discretion(1)
	discuss(1)
	discussed(4)
	discussing(2)
	discussion(5)
	discussions(1)
	dismiss(2)
	dismissal(3)
	dispose(2)
	disposed(2)
	dispositive(2)
	dispute(4)
	disputing(1)
	disregard(3)
	disregarded(1)
	disrupt(1)
	disruptive(1)
	disseminated(2)
	dissemination(1)
	distinction(1)
	district(12)
	diversion(1)
	docket(1)
	document(10)
	documentation(1)
	documents(19)
	doing(9)
	dollars(2)
	domain(1)
	domestic(1)
	door(2)
	doors(1)
	dots(2)
	double(1)
	doubt(4)
	downside(1)
	drafted(2)
	drafts(1)
	dragged(1)
	dramatically(1)
	drastic(1)
	drastically(2)
	drawing(2)
	drawings(1)
	drilled(1)
	drive(3)
	driver(1)
	drives(1)
	driving(2)
	duces(2)
	due(4)
	duly(1)
	dump(5)
	dumped(5)
	dumpers(1)
	dumping(3)
	dumps(3)
	duty(2)

	E
	earlier(8)
	early(1)
	easier(2)
	easily(2)
	easy(2)
	economies(1)
	economy(1)
	educated(1)
	education(1)
	effect(1)
	effectively(4)
	efficiently(1)
	effort(1)
	efforts(1)
	egregious(2)
	eight(3)
	Eighth(1)
	either(7)
	elapsed(1)
	elderly(1)
	electric(3)
	electrical(17)
	electrician(1)
	electro(1)
	electromagnetic(12)
	electromechanical(1)
	electronic(2)
	electronics(7)
	elements(1)
	elevator(10)
	Elevators(1)
	ELLIOTT(1)
	else's(2)
	EMF(4)
	employee(1)
	en(1)
	endeavor(1)
	ends(1)
	energize(1)
	energizes(2)
	energy(1)
	enforce(2)
	enforcing(1)
	engaged(1)
	engineer(5)
	engineered(1)
	engineering(3)
	ensure(2)
	ensuring(1)
	enter(1)
	entered(8)
	Enterprise(1)
	Enterprises(18)
	entire(3)
	entirely(5)
	entirety(2)
	entities(1)
	episode(1)
	equally(1)
	equation(3)
	equipment(1)
	equities(1)
	equity(2)
	Erik(2)
	ERNEST(1)
	errata(4)
	error(1)
	especially(4)
	espionage(2)
	ESQ(3)
	essence(1)
	essentially(2)
	established(3)
	estimate(1)
	estimation(1)
	et(2)
	Eureka(1)
	evaluation(1)
	event(3)
	events(1)
	eventually(1)
	everybody(5)
	everybody's(2)
	evidence(54)
	evidenced(1)
	evidentiary(2)
	exact(11)
	exactly(4)
	examined(1)
	example(2)
	excerpt(1)
	excessive(1)
	Exchange(2)
	excuse(4)
	excused(1)
	exemplar(4)
	exercise(1)
	exercised(2)
	exhibit(8)
	exhibits(3)
	existed(1)
	existence(3)
	existing(2)
	exists(4)
	exonerated(1)
	expect(4)
	expecting(1)
	expedited(3)
	expeditious(1)
	expeditiously(3)
	experience(2)
	experienced(3)
	experiences(1)
	experimenting(1)
	expert(38)
	expert's(3)
	experts(43)
	expiration(5)
	expired(5)
	explanation(10)
	explore(2)
	expose(1)
	exposed(5)
	express(3)
	expressed(2)
	extension(2)
	extent(5)
	external(1)
	extra(2)
	extreme(1)
	extremely(1)
	eye(1)

	F
	F.2d(3)
	F.3d(2)
	face(1)
	fact(41)
	factor(7)
	factors(18)
	factory(2)
	facts(9)
	factual(3)
	factually(1)
	failed(4)
	failing(1)
	fails(1)
	failure(8)
	fair(2)
	fairness(1)
	faith(4)
	faked(1)
	fall(5)
	familiar(3)
	fancy(1)
	far(7)
	fashion(6)
	fatal(2)
	fault(1)
	faulted(1)
	favor(3)
	favorable(1)
	feasibility(1)
	February(3)
	federal(5)
	feel(5)
	fees(1)
	feet(1)
	fell(2)
	female(2)
	ferrous(3)
	fewer(2)
	field(15)
	fields(3)
	figure(1)
	figures(1)
	file(11)
	file-stamped(12)
	filed(44)
	files(1)
	filing(9)
	fill(2)
	final(3)
	finally(3)
	financially(1)
	find(21)
	finding(2)
	findings(2)
	finds(5)
	fine(2)
	finished(1)
	fire(3)
	first(26)
	fit(1)
	Fitzsimmons(6)
	five(9)
	five-day(1)
	five-week(1)
	fix(1)
	fixed(2)
	fleet(1)
	flew(1)
	flights(1)
	Flower(1)
	fluid(1)
	fluidity(1)
	flushing(1)
	fly(2)
	flying(1)
	focus(3)
	focused(3)
	focuses(1)
	follow(2)
	follow-up(1)
	following(3)
	follows(2)
	football(1)
	footnote(1)
	force(8)
	forces(1)
	foregoing(3)
	foreign(1)
	forever(1)
	forgot(1)
	form(1)
	formally(1)
	formula(1)
	forth(6)
	forward(5)
	found(11)
	four(15)
	four-pin(6)
	four-plug(1)
	four-way(1)
	four-week(1)
	fourth(1)
	Fox(1)
	frame(2)
	frayed(1)
	free(3)
	freely(1)
	freeway(2)
	Freightliner(3)
	frequently(1)
	Friday(2)
	Fried(1)
	front(9)
	full(12)
	fully(4)
	Functionally(1)
	fundamentally(1)
	funny(1)
	furiously(1)
	further(14)
	futile(5)
	futility(2)
	future(5)

	G
	garage(1)
	garbage(1)
	Garrett(1)
	gas(2)
	gate(1)
	gates(2)
	general(2)
	generally(1)
	gentlemen(3)
	getting(3)
	giant(4)
	gigantic(1)
	girls(1)
	give(13)
	given(12)
	giving(4)
	glanced(1)
	glasses(1)
	GNLV(2)
	go(44)
	goal(1)
	goes(9)
	going(67)
	good(37)
	gotten(2)
	govern(1)
	governing(1)
	grant(7)
	granted(5)
	granting(1)
	gravel(6)
	great(5)
	green(1)
	grin(1)
	grind(1)
	ground(7)
	Group(1)
	guarantee(1)
	guess(10)
	guilty(2)
	guy(6)
	guys(2)
	gymnastics(1)

	H
	habit(1)
	hack(1)
	half(4)
	Hallmark(2)
	hampered(1)
	hand(1)
	hands(3)
	happen(9)
	happened(16)
	happening(2)
	happens(1)
	happy(1)
	hard(1)
	harder(1)
	harm(1)
	hatch(2)
	HBO(2)
	headache(1)
	heads-up(1)
	hear(2)
	heard(4)
	hearing(15)
	heavy(2)
	held(3)
	helpful(1)
	helps(1)
	herbs(1)
	hey(7)
	hidden(1)
	hiding(2)
	high(3)
	highlight(1)
	highway(1)
	HILL(1)
	hit(4)
	hitting(1)
	hoist(4)
	hold(4)
	holding(1)
	Holdings(1)
	holds(1)
	hole(1)
	holes(4)
	holiday(1)
	home(1)
	Honor(41)
	HONORABLE(1)
	hoods(1)
	Hoogs(6)
	hook(1)
	hoops(1)
	hopefully(2)
	hot(3)
	hotel(2)
	hour(5)
	housekeeping(1)
	Howard(1)
	huge(1)
	Hughes(1)
	human(2)
	humanly(1)
	hundreds(3)
	hurdle(3)
	hurts(2)
	Husband(1)
	hydropneumatic(1)
	hypotheticals(1)

	I
	idea(3)
	ideas(1)
	identical(1)
	identification(1)
	identified(4)
	identify(2)
	ignore(1)
	ignored(2)
	ignores(1)
	ignoring(1)
	Illinois(1)
	imagine(1)
	immediately(13)
	impact(3)
	impacted(1)
	impacts(1)
	implausible(1)
	implicate(1)
	import(1)
	importance(5)
	important(18)
	importantly(3)
	imposed(3)
	inadvertent(6)
	inadvertently(3)
	inappropriate(3)
	inasmuch(1)
	incident(4)
	include(2)
	including(5)
	inconvenienced(2)
	Incorporated(10)
	Incorporated's(9)
	indemnity(3)
	independent(2)
	independently(2)
	indicate(1)
	indicating(2)
	individual(2)
	individuals(2)
	indolent(1)
	Industries(2)
	inexpensive(1)
	inference(1)
	inferential(1)
	inform(1)
	information(50)
	informed(1)
	informing(1)
	initial(6)
	initiated(1)
	injured(1)
	innocuous(1)
	inquire(1)
	inquiry(6)
	inside(2)
	inspect(2)
	inspected(5)
	inspection(1)
	instructed(1)
	instruction(8)
	Instructions(1)
	insulated(1)
	Insurance(2)
	intact(1)
	intended(1)
	intention(1)
	interest(1)
	interested(3)
	interesting(7)
	interests(3)
	internal(4)
	International(1)
	interplay(1)
	interpose(1)
	interrupt(3)
	Interstate(1)
	intervention(1)
	intricate(1)
	introducing(1)
	introduction(2)
	intuitive(1)
	intuitively(1)
	investigate(2)
	investigation(5)
	involved(4)
	irrefutable(1)
	irreparably(1)
	Isom(2)
	issue(58)
	issues(18)
	issuing(1)
	item(3)
	items(2)

	J
	January(20)
	Jersey(1)
	jobs(1)
	Johnny(2)
	Johnson(10)
	join(3)
	joinder(2)
	joined(4)
	Josh(2)
	judge(20)
	judges(2)
	judgment(1)
	judicial(2)
	July(14)
	jump(1)
	jumps(1)
	June(11)
	jurisdiction(1)
	juror(2)
	jury(17)
	jury's(1)
	justice(4)

	K
	keep(6)
	keeping(1)
	Kelly(1)
	KENNETH(1)
	Kentucky(1)
	kept(1)
	key(2)
	kids(1)
	kind(7)
	kinds(1)
	knell(3)
	knew(3)
	know(86)
	knowledge(3)
	known(7)
	knows(3)
	knuckle(1)
	KONE(1)
	Koski(3)
	Koski's(1)

	L
	lack(2)
	Lamar(2)
	lane(1)
	large(3)
	Las(5)
	late(5)
	law(9)
	laws(1)
	lawsuit(5)
	lawyer(2)
	lawyers(2)
	lay(1)
	lead(1)
	leaks(1)
	leap(1)
	learning(3)
	leave(20)
	left(2)
	legal(1)
	legitimate(2)
	legitimately(1)
	legs(3)
	lenient(1)
	lesser(1)
	letter(2)
	letting(4)
	level(2)
	leverage(1)
	LEWIS(1)
	liability(7)
	liberal(2)
	liberality(1)
	lid(1)
	life(1)
	lifting(1)
	liked(2)
	likelihood(1)
	likes(1)
	limine(1)
	limitations(2)
	line(4)
	lined(1)
	lines(4)
	list(3)
	listening(3)
	listing(1)
	literally(3)
	litigant(1)
	litigants(2)
	litigated(1)
	litigation(12)
	little(6)
	LLC(3)
	LLC's(9)
	load(1)
	local(3)
	location(1)
	locks(1)
	logic(1)
	logically(3)
	logs(1)
	long(6)
	longer(5)
	look(25)
	looked(10)
	looking(14)
	looks(1)
	Los(1)
	lose(1)
	losing(2)
	loss(7)
	lost(2)
	lot(6)
	love(1)
	low(1)
	luck(1)
	luckily(2)

	M
	M-a-n-g-i-a-f-i-c-o(1)
	machines(1)
	MAG-NIF-IH-KOE(3)
	magnet(5)
	magnetic(14)
	Magnifico(1)
	maintain(5)
	maintenance(4)
	Majestic(1)
	making(5)
	male(2)
	malfunction(3)
	Mammoth(2)
	management(6)
	Mangiafico(3)
	manmade(1)
	manufacture(1)
	manufactured(2)
	manufacturer(3)
	manufacturers(1)
	March(2)
	Mark(1)
	marked(1)
	market(2)
	marketplace(2)
	marrying(3)
	Marsh(1)
	Maryland(1)
	masse(1)
	materials(1)
	matter(9)
	matters(1)
	MDB(55)
	MDB's(7)
	mean(12)
	meaning(1)
	meaningless(1)
	means(3)
	meant(2)
	measure(1)
	measurements(4)
	mechanical(3)
	mechanics(1)
	mediate(1)
	mediation(4)
	medical(1)
	meet(4)
	memorialized(1)
	memory(3)
	men(2)
	mental(1)
	mentioned(1)
	mentioning(1)
	merely(1)
	merits(2)
	met(2)
	micrometers(1)
	micron(2)
	microns(2)
	miles(2)
	millions(1)
	mind(4)
	mine(4)
	minimizing(1)
	minimum(5)
	minute(3)
	minutes(4)
	misconduct(1)
	missing(3)
	Mitchell's(1)
	modification(2)
	modified(1)
	Moines(1)
	moment(8)
	momentarily(3)
	Monday(1)
	Monday's(1)
	monies(1)
	month(2)
	months(13)
	motion(100)
	motions(17)
	motivation(1)
	motive(1)
	motives(1)
	motor(2)
	mount(1)
	movant(1)
	movant's(1)
	move(6)
	moved(2)
	moving(6)
	murder(2)
	murdering(1)
	Music(1)

	N
	N-u-t-t-o-n(1)
	name(3)
	named(2)
	narrower(1)
	Nasme(5)
	Nasme's(5)
	nature(2)
	near(1)
	necessary(5)
	need(35)
	needed(4)
	needs(6)
	neglected(1)
	negligence(3)
	negligently(1)
	negligible(2)
	neither(3)
	neutral(1)
	Nev(8)
	Nevada(39)
	never(12)
	new(21)
	nice(1)
	NICHOLAS(1)
	nightmare(1)
	nonexclusive(1)
	nonissue(1)
	nonjudicial(1)
	nonoffending(1)
	nonprevailing(1)
	nonsuit(1)
	normal(2)
	normally(1)
	note(9)
	noted(3)
	notes(2)
	notice(8)
	notified(1)
	NRCP(48)
	nullify(1)
	number(4)
	numerous(2)
	Nutter(1)
	Nutton(24)
	Nutton's(2)

	O
	object(2)
	objection(11)
	obligation(4)
	obligations(1)
	obligatory(1)
	observation(1)
	obstruct(1)
	obstructing(1)
	obtain(2)
	obtained(1)
	obviously(4)
	occasion(1)
	occur(4)
	occurred(8)
	occurring(2)
	occurs(1)
	OCD(1)
	October(8)
	odd(2)
	odds(1)
	offending(1)
	offer(2)
	offers(1)
	office(7)
	OFFICES(1)
	official(1)
	oftentimes(1)
	Oh(4)
	oil(1)
	okay(17)
	once(4)
	one-sheet(1)
	ongoing(1)
	onus(2)
	oOo(3)
	Op(1)
	open(4)
	opens(3)
	operate(2)
	operation(3)
	opine(3)
	opined(1)
	opinion(9)
	opinions(2)
	opp(1)
	opponent(1)
	opportunity(2)
	oppose(2)
	opposed(3)
	opposing(5)
	opposition(9)
	optional(1)
	oral(4)
	order(49)
	orders(3)
	original(5)
	Orleans(1)
	Otis(2)
	ought(1)
	outcome(1)
	outset(1)
	outside(3)
	outstanding(6)
	oven(1)
	overestimation(1)
	overlaps(1)
	overly(1)
	overt(1)
	overturned(1)
	owed(1)
	owner(1)
	owning(2)

	P
	P.2d(7)
	P.3d(2)
	P.M(1)
	Pacific(1)
	page(28)
	pages(3)
	paid(2)
	panel(2)
	papers(1)
	paraphrase(1)
	paraphrasing(1)
	Pardon(1)
	parenthetical(1)
	parenthetically(2)
	park(1)
	parked(1)
	Parker(1)
	Parkway(1)
	parsing(2)
	part(18)
	particular(1)
	particularly(1)
	parties(43)
	party(42)
	party's(1)
	pass(1)
	pattern(4)
	patterned(1)
	Paul(59)
	Paul's(7)
	payments(1)
	Pearl(3)
	peer-reviewed(1)
	peers(1)
	Peggy(5)
	pen(2)
	penalize(1)
	penalty(6)
	pending(1)
	people(13)
	people's(1)
	perfect(4)
	perform(1)
	performing(1)
	period(2)
	perjury(1)
	permission(1)
	permitted(1)
	person(6)
	personal(1)
	personally(2)
	persuade(1)
	persuasive(1)
	pertinent(1)
	Peter(66)
	Phoenix(8)
	phone(1)
	phones(1)
	photocopy(1)
	photocopying(1)
	photograph(2)
	photographic(1)
	photographs(3)
	pick(2)
	picking(2)
	Pictures(1)
	piece(4)
	piecemealing(2)
	pin(1)
	pins(2)
	place(12)
	places(1)
	plaintiff(4)
	plaintiffs(12)
	plane(1)
	plans(1)
	plastic(1)
	plausible(1)
	play(3)
	plead(1)
	pleading(6)
	pleadings(10)
	please(4)
	plug(4)
	plugged(1)
	plugs(1)
	plus(2)
	PMK(2)
	PMKs(1)
	pneumatic(3)
	point(16)
	pointed(1)
	pointing(4)
	poker(1)
	poking(1)
	pole(2)
	policy(1)
	political(3)
	pool(2)
	poor(2)
	popping(4)
	portion(2)
	position(6)
	positions(1)
	possession(1)
	possible(2)
	possibly(1)
	post-expert(1)
	potential(16)
	potentially(3)
	power(3)
	practice(7)
	practices(2)
	precipitating(1)
	precisely(1)
	preferably(1)
	preferential(2)
	prejudice(20)
	prejudiced(3)
	preliminary(3)
	premier(1)
	preparations(1)
	prepare(7)
	prepared(3)
	preparing(1)
	presence(2)
	present(5)
	presented(1)
	preserve(3)
	pressing(1)
	presumably(2)
	presume(4)
	presumption(1)
	presupposes(1)
	presupposing(1)
	pretrial(5)
	pretty(1)
	prevailed(1)
	prevailing(2)
	prevent(1)
	previously(3)
	primarily(4)
	primary(1)
	principal(1)
	print(2)
	prior(3)
	pro(1)
	probably(7)
	problem(10)
	procedurally(1)
	Procedure(9)
	proceeding(1)
	proceedings(9)
	process(12)
	produce(5)
	produced(9)
	producing(4)
	product(14)
	production(2)
	products(16)
	proffered(3)
	program(2)
	progress(1)
	pronounce(1)
	pronounced(1)
	proof(3)
	proper(1)
	properly(1)
	property(2)
	propose(1)
	proposed(3)
	proposition(1)
	proprietary(2)
	propriety(1)
	protect(3)
	Protection(1)
	protections(1)
	protective(1)
	prove(8)
	prove-up(2)
	proved(1)
	provide(6)
	provided(9)
	provides(2)
	prudent(1)
	public(1)
	published(2)
	pull(2)
	pulling(1)
	pulls(2)
	punishing(2)
	purpose(2)
	purposefully(1)
	purposes(3)
	pursuant(11)
	put(17)
	puts(2)
	putting(2)

	Q
	quality(1)
	quarter(1)
	question(15)
	quickly(1)
	quite(2)
	quiz(1)
	quo(1)
	quotation(2)
	quote(4)

	R
	Radio(2)
	Rainbow(1)
	raise(4)
	raised(3)
	raises(1)
	raising(1)
	randomly(1)
	rapidly(1)
	rational(1)
	rationale(3)
	RDR(2)
	reach(1)
	reaching(2)
	read(19)
	reading(5)
	ready(3)
	real(2)
	really(14)
	rear(1)
	reason(11)
	reasonable(11)
	reasonably(2)
	reasons(3)
	rebuttable(1)
	rebuttal(1)
	rebuttals(1)
	recall(5)
	receive(1)
	received(13)
	recess(4)
	recite(1)
	recited(1)
	recites(2)
	recklessly(1)
	reckoning(1)
	recognize(1)
	recognizes(1)
	recollection(5)
	recommend(1)
	recommendation(5)
	recommendations(1)
	recommended(1)
	reconcile(1)
	record(6)
	recorded(2)
	records(5)
	recovery(1)
	Recreations(2)
	redacted(3)
	redactions(1)
	refer(1)
	reference(1)
	referenced(1)
	referred(1)
	reflected(2)
	refute(1)
	regard(2)
	regarding(23)
	regardless(2)
	regularity(1)
	rejects(1)
	related(7)
	relationship(1)
	relative(2)
	relay(4)
	release(2)
	released(1)
	relevance(2)
	relevancy(1)
	relevant(3)
	relief(1)
	rely(2)
	remain(1)
	remaining(2)
	remains(1)
	remember(9)
	Remind(1)
	reminded(1)
	removed(4)
	rendered(1)
	renewed(1)
	Reno(4)
	repeat(1)
	repeatedly(1)
	replace(2)
	replaced(4)
	reply(14)
	report(3)
	Reported(1)
	reporter(9)
	Reporting(1)
	reports(4)
	represent(1)
	representation(1)
	representations(1)
	representatives(1)
	request(5)
	requested(4)
	requesting(1)
	requests(4)
	require(4)
	required(5)
	requires(4)
	research(2)
	reset(1)
	resolution(2)
	resolve(5)
	resolved(2)
	respect(4)
	respects(1)
	response(3)
	responses(1)
	responsibility(3)
	responsible(9)
	responsive(1)
	rests(1)
	result(1)
	resulted(1)
	results(1)
	retain(3)
	retained(2)
	revealed(1)
	reverse(4)
	review(4)
	reviewed(14)
	reward(1)
	rewarded(2)
	rhetorical(1)
	Ribeiro(10)
	Ricky(1)
	rid(1)
	rig(1)
	right(28)
	rights(1)
	rip(1)
	ripe(1)
	rise(1)
	RMC(2)
	road(5)
	roadway(1)
	rogs(1)
	role(1)
	room(1)
	roughly(2)
	route(1)
	routed(1)
	rule(25)
	ruled(1)
	rules(6)
	ruling(1)
	run(6)
	running(3)
	rust(1)

	S
	S&W(1)
	S-t-e-p-h-e-n-s(1)
	S-t-u-b-l-i(1)
	sake(3)
	salient(1)
	salvage(1)
	sanction(20)
	sanctions(11)
	SATTLER(1)
	save(2)
	saying(15)
	says(27)
	scale(1)
	scheduling(5)
	schematics(2)
	scheme(1)
	school(3)
	scope(1)
	scramble(1)
	seated(1)
	Sechrest(2)
	Sechrest's(1)
	second(15)
	secret(3)
	secretary(1)
	secrets(3)
	see(26)
	seek(5)
	seeking(13)
	seeks(4)
	seen(7)
	sees(2)
	segues(1)
	send(2)
	sending(1)
	sense(2)
	sent(3)
	sentencing(1)
	separate(4)
	September(1)
	series(2)
	seriously(1)
	serve(1)
	served(1)
	serves(3)
	service(5)
	Services(1)
	servicing(1)
	session(1)
	set(18)
	setting(8)
	settled(4)
	seven(6)
	severe(5)
	severity(4)
	sexual(1)
	shaves(1)
	shift(1)
	shoes(4)
	shooting(1)
	shore(1)
	short(5)
	short-circuited(1)
	shorter(2)
	show(5)
	showing(2)
	shown(1)
	shut(1)
	side(1)
	sides(1)
	sideshow(3)
	sign(2)
	significant(2)
	similar(3)
	similarly(1)
	simple(2)
	simply(8)
	sir(6)
	sit(4)
	sits(1)
	sitting(3)
	situated(1)
	situation(3)
	situations(1)
	six(9)
	size(1)
	skepticism(1)
	skill(1)
	skip(1)
	skipped(1)
	sky(1)
	slapped(1)
	slightly(2)
	slip-and-fall(1)
	small(1)
	smarter(1)
	smoothly(1)
	snatched(1)
	solely(1)
	solenoid(24)
	solenoids(5)
	solution(1)
	solve(1)
	solved(1)
	somebody(11)
	somebody's(1)
	someone's(1)
	somewhat(1)
	sophisticated(1)
	sorry(2)
	sort(1)
	sought(5)
	sounds(4)
	source(2)
	South(2)
	Southern(2)
	Sovereign(1)
	space(1)
	speak(1)
	speaking(2)
	special(2)
	special-set(1)
	specific(1)
	specifically(2)
	specifications(6)
	specs(3)
	speedy(1)
	spelled(1)
	spend(1)
	spent(2)
	spices(1)
	spoke(1)
	spoliation(4)
	spot(1)
	ss(1)
	stack(3)
	stacked(1)
	stacks(1)
	stamp(1)
	stand(4)
	standalone(1)
	standard(4)
	standards(3)
	standing(1)
	start(7)
	started(1)
	starter(2)
	starting(3)
	starts(1)
	state(11)
	stated(3)
	statement(1)
	statements(1)
	states(7)
	Station(5)
	status(8)
	statute(2)
	statutory(2)
	steel(2)
	stenographically(1)
	step(1)
	Stephens(1)
	steps(4)
	Stiglich(1)
	Stiglich's(1)
	stipulate(1)
	stipulated(1)
	stipulation(1)
	stolen(2)
	Stone(1)
	stonewalling(1)
	stop(3)
	stored(2)
	strangling(1)
	strategic(2)
	street(4)
	stretch(3)
	stretching(2)
	strike(16)
	strikes(1)
	striking(6)
	strong(1)
	struck(3)
	Stubli(1)
	stuck(1)
	stuff(13)
	subject(15)
	submitted(11)
	subpoena(4)
	subpoenas(1)
	subro(2)
	Subsequently(1)
	substance(3)
	substantively(1)
	successfully(1)
	sued(1)
	suggest(1)
	suggesting(7)
	suggestion(3)
	Suite(2)
	summary(2)
	Sunset(5)
	superiority(1)
	supervision(1)
	Supp(1)
	supplement(1)
	supplier(3)
	supply(1)
	support(6)
	supported(1)
	supports(3)
	suppose(1)
	supposed(1)
	Supreme(16)
	sure(16)
	surprising(1)
	Susan(1)
	suspended(1)
	swap(1)
	swapped(1)
	switch(1)
	sympathy(1)
	system(12)
	systems(3)

	T
	table(1)
	take(36)
	taken(11)
	takes(6)
	talents(1)
	talk(6)
	talked(2)
	talking(8)
	tandem(2)
	tank(1)
	Tao(10)
	target(1)
	Tchoupitoulas(1)
	teacher(1)
	tear(1)
	teasing(1)
	technique(1)
	tecum(2)
	telephone(1)
	telephonic(2)
	tell(14)
	telling(3)
	tells(2)
	ten(3)
	tension(2)
	terabytes(1)
	term(1)
	Terminal(1)
	terms(2)
	terrible(1)
	test(1)
	testified(1)
	testify(1)
	testimony(6)
	testing(1)
	thank(19)
	theoretically(7)
	theory(45)
	thing(11)
	things(23)
	think(69)
	thinking(10)
	thinks(1)
	third(3)
	third-party(3)
	thought(13)
	thousands(2)
	three(18)
	three-week(4)
	threshold(2)
	threw(22)
	throw(5)
	throwing(3)
	thrown(11)
	thrust(2)
	Thursday(1)
	Thyssenkrupp(1)
	time(43)
	timely(4)
	times(5)
	timing(5)
	tipped(1)
	tire(1)
	title(1)
	titled(1)
	toaster(8)
	today(13)
	today's(1)
	toilet(1)
	told(3)
	tolerances(10)
	tomorrow(2)
	tore(7)
	torn(3)
	tortfeasor(2)
	toss-up(1)
	totality(1)
	touched(3)
	tractor-trailer(3)
	trade(6)
	trade-secret-privileged(1)
	trade-secret-protected(1)
	trailer(6)
	trailers(8)
	transcribed(1)
	transcript(4)
	transcription(1)
	trash(1)
	tremendous(1)
	trial(57)
	trials(3)
	Triangle(1)
	tried(3)
	trier(2)
	trigger(8)
	triggered(6)
	triggering(1)
	truck(24)
	trucking(16)
	Trucking's(2)
	trucks(2)
	true(5)
	truly(1)
	trunk(1)
	trunks(2)
	Trust(1)
	Truthfully(1)
	try(15)
	trying(19)
	Tuesday(3)
	turn(4)
	turned(1)
	turning(1)
	TV(1)
	two(38)
	type(7)
	types(2)

	U
	UL(3)
	ultimately(2)
	unacceptable(1)
	uncovered(2)
	undermine(1)
	underpinnings(1)
	understand(13)
	understanding(3)
	Understood(1)
	undoubtedly(1)
	undue(1)
	unexpected(1)
	unfairly(1)
	Unfortunately(1)
	United(4)
	unknowns(1)
	unlock(1)
	unnecessarily(1)
	unpersuasive(2)
	unpleasant(1)
	unreasonable(2)
	unredacted(5)
	unsupported(1)
	untimely(12)
	use(10)
	utilized(1)

	V
	validate(1)
	validates(1)
	valuable(1)
	valve(36)
	various(3)
	vault(1)
	Vegas(5)
	verdict(4)
	Versa(71)
	Versa's(16)
	versus(2)
	vetted(1)
	viable(1)
	view(7)
	views(1)
	visualize(2)
	visually(1)
	vitiate(1)
	volts(1)
	vouch(1)
	vs(25)

	W
	wait(4)
	waited(2)
	waiting(1)
	waiver(1)
	walked(1)
	wall(1)
	want(19)
	wanted(4)
	wants(1)
	warehouse(1)
	warranted(2)
	Washoe(3)
	waste(1)
	watch(2)
	watching(1)
	wax(1)
	waxed(1)
	way(19)
	ways(1)
	we've(10)
	wear(2)
	weather(1)
	wedding(1)
	Wednesday(1)
	week(7)
	weeks(26)
	weighed(1)
	welded(1)
	went(13)
	wet(1)
	whatsoever(1)
	whiteboard(1)
	Wieczorek(67)
	wield(1)
	wife(3)
	wildly(1)
	willful(1)
	willfully(2)
	willfulness(2)
	willing(2)
	wire(1)
	wiring(3)
	withheld(2)
	witness(3)
	witnesses(1)
	wondered(1)
	wore(1)
	work(14)
	workbook(1)
	working(2)
	world(4)
	world's(1)
	worry(1)
	worse(2)
	worth(2)
	Wow(1)
	wrestler(1)
	writ(1)
	write(1)
	writing(1)
	written(6)
	wrong(4)
	wrote(1)

	Y
	yammered(1)
	yard(1)
	yeah(2)
	year(9)
	years(11)
	York(2)
	young(10)
	Young-Ribeiro(1)

	Z
	Zenith(3)

	1
	1(5)
	1:27(1)
	10(1)
	100(1)
	1005(1)
	103(1)
	104(1)
	105(1)
	106(2)
	107(1)
	108(1)
	1089(1)
	1092(1)
	10th(5)
	11(1)
	111(1)
	11th(1)
	12(4)
	120(2)
	12th(1)
	13(3)
	131(1)
	1354(1)
	1359(1)
	138(1)
	139(1)
	15(10)
	15(a(18)
	15(a)'s(1)
	150,000(1)
	15th(4)
	16(12)
	16(b(21)
	16(b)'s(1)
	160(3)
	16th(1)
	17(1)
	172(1)
	18(1)
	188(1)
	192(1)
	1973(1)
	1980(1)
	1982(1)
	1987(1)
	1990(1)
	1991(1)
	1992(2)
	1995(1)
	1997(1)
	1st(3)

	2
	2(4)
	2,000,000(1)
	20(2)
	2000(1)
	2003(1)
	2012(2)
	2014(3)
	2015(2)
	2017(50)
	2018(2)
	204(1)
	23(2)
	23rd(4)
	24(4)
	24th(2)
	25(1)
	25th(3)
	26th(1)
	27(2)
	27th(3)
	28(1)
	28-car(1)
	29(2)
	29th(2)
	2d(1)
	2nd(1)

	3
	3(4)
	3:00(1)
	3:30(1)
	30(2)
	30(b)(6(1)
	309(1)
	30th(11)
	312(1)
	315(1)
	323(1)
	326(2)
	327-4460(1)
	339-40(1)
	34(1)
	35(3)
	350,000(1)
	357(1)
	37(6)
	37(f(1)
	3800(1)

	4
	4(4)
	4:15(1)
	4185(1)
	435(1)
	453(1)
	457(1)
	4th(2)

	5
	5(1)
	5,000(1)
	5:00(1)
	50(1)
	500(1)
	507(1)
	533(1)
	536(1)
	55(1)
	5958(1)
	5th(1)

	6
	6(3)
	60(3)
	604(1)
	606(1)
	609(2)
	610(1)
	638(1)
	6385(1)
	645(1)
	648(1)
	65(2)
	651(2)

	7
	7(2)
	70(1)
	747(1)
	75,000(1)
	775(1)
	777(1)
	785(1)
	787(2)
	7th(4)

	8
	8(2)
	8:30(2)
	80(1)
	810(1)
	837(1)
	866(1)
	870(1)
	88(1)
	889(1)
	89(1)
	89118(1)
	89169(1)
	89502(1)
	89509(1)

	9
	90(1)
	900(1)
	911(1)
	914(2)
	93(1)
	95(1)
	96(1)
	966(1)
	968(2)
	969(3)
	970(2)
	971(2)
	972(2)
	975(3)
	9th(9)

	/
	/s/(1)




